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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached. In
particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation to forecast future profitability.
Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries
in which the companies operate. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM
mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated by the Stock Exchange.
Listed companies are not generally required to issue paid announcement in gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors
should note that they need to have access to the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Thiz Technology Group Limited collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to Thiz Technology Group
Limited. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: 1. the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; 2. there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and 3. all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due
and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Corporate Information

Executive Directors

M. Lin Chien Hsin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wanzi Huang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Li Zhe

Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward

Mr. Chu Wei Jen

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit 1004, 10/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre

37 Ma Tau Wai Road
To Kwa Wan
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Ugland House, South Church Street

P. O. Box 309, George Town
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands

British VWest Indies

Principal Share Registrar

Bank of Butterfield International (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street P. O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

British West Indies
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Corporate Information
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Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Tengis Limited

G/F Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre

56 Gloucester Road
Wanchai
Hong Kong

Principal Banker

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Tsim Sha Tsui Branch
82-84 Nathan Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Legal Advisers

As to Hong Kong law
Cheung, Tong & Rosa
Rooms 1621-33, 16/F
Sun Hung Kai Centre
30 Harbour Road
Hong Kong

As to Cayman Islands law

Maples and Calder Asia

1504 One International Finance Centre
1 Harbour View Street

Hong Kong

Auditors

PKF

26/F, Citicorp Cenfre
18 Whitfield Road
Causeway Bay
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Corporate Information

Compliance Officer
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Audit Committee
Ms. Li Zhe

Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward
Mr. Chu Wei Jen

Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant

Mr. Chan Sai Yan, ACCA, MBA

Avuthorized Representatives

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Mr. Chan Sai Yan

Company Website

www.thizgroup.com
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Corporate Profile

Based in Hong Kong, Thiz Technology Group Llimited [“Thiz", the
"Company” or the “Group”) is the first and a leading developer of Linux
solutions for PC and provider of internet application technology users.
Thiz was also the first Linux software solution provider listed in the Growth
Enterprise Market ("GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong in July
2001 (Stock Code: 8119]. Thiz is a provider of various computing
solutions and related services targefing individuals, small to medium size
enterprises and educational institutions. The products and services provided
by the Group include Thizlinux (deskiop operating system and server),
applications and other related services, such as software installation,
fraining and education. Thiz launches high quality products that are flexible

fo customise for SMEs, government and educational institutions.

Thiz is devoted to developing Linux systems, intemet application fechnology
and related applications, and promote the Group's brandname to the
global market. Thizlinux is the Group's R&D backbone on Linux operating
systems and applications. The Group has introduced a wide range of
products including Thizlinux deskiop systems, office suites, server
applications, Internet trading systems, diskless solution, intranet

collaborative software, anti-virus software and firewall.

To promote Linux general education, Thiz provides various solutions on
Linux education for primary and secondary schools, tertiary insfitutions
and fraining cenfres. The solutions include course management, training
materials, tfeaching plans, fraining cerfifications, examination system and
other related services. Currently, the Group is actively promoting leaming

and usage of Thizlinux products in China and Hong Kong.

BIS RS E AR AR ([EIRRIEHR ] - [
RE S [AEE]) UEEREN  REK
RIEANERR PR Linux 8RR KR B
BRSO HER - YREXANREN
B - ISR R BN & B A 25 PEl
ZER ([RIZEAR 1) L Linux B4 M RT3
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5% :8119) - BIEMMAEMABARE -
NI R HE B RS RERART
% M ARRAARTS o AR BT AV E M MRS
B Thizlinux (BIEREEBRERS L AR
2r)  ERRAREAMARRSE - flangit
L BIIRHE - ARNRT IR ED
EmAHELEL  AIARH/IE  BFK
HEWBREMESRE -

BIBE R — B B FIEE Linux 2T - BHEAE
JE BT SRR B - No it SR8l am R ok
BEZEBIBRTIS o Thizlinux:E & BT 2B
hE Linux BB 25 M A 3 07 T #)
ol o RERE STR D AE Linux REAR
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Corporate Profile

RN

On regional development, the Group has offices in Hong Kong, Taiwan
and China. Through software bundling, OEM partnerships, education
and Thizlinux enferprise solutions, the Group offers comprehensive support
and services to governments, private enterprises, educational institutions

as well as individual users in the Greater China region.
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Corporate Milestone

RERER

2005

March 2005

February 2005

2004

December 2004

Signed “Cooperation Agreement” for * BNEF AR R
38 " VolP phone card business with 1t 5 37 = 5
BEBRBERAF

Signed "Cooperation Agreement” for " L4538
VolP phone card business with the Beijing branch

of China Unicom Limited

Signed “"Software Product Bundling licensing

Confract” and “Product Development Agreement

- BEHEEE1.0" wih EEEEBISERER
yNC]

Participated in “Linux Solution Day” organized by
IBM

Accredited “Technology Fast500 Asia Pacific” by

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Thizlinux Desktop 7.0 and “Thiz Easy Theatre”
2.0 won 2004 Editors' Choice from “Open System
World" as “the Best Linux Multi-media Deskiop

Solution”

—ZERF
“EEZRF=HA
—EERF R
—ZTEME
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BEAE FHT R & BUR R
BAB AR AR
wEA] EEREBA
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REmEE - BEER
1.0y

LERIBM BHH

[Linux Solution Day |
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Corporate Milestone

November 2004

October 2004

September 2004

Signed “Agent Agreement” with China Unicom
Limited and "Video Phone Business Cooperation
Agreement” with Qingdao branch of China

Unicom Limited

Signed “Authorization Agreement for Training Base
for Nationwide Information Technology
Professionals” with China Electronic Information
Application Education Center of the PRC's Ministry

of Information Industry

The Group donated to Zhuhai municipal
government Linux operating systfems and training
courses with a total worth of RMB 1.2 million when
the first [ KA Linux BEB FE TR R A 1B E
W&t ] is held at Zhuhai

Commencement of the course for 5th intake of
"Thiz BEST training programme for Llinux

Professionals of China and Hong Kong”

Formally released the latest Linux multi-media
software deskiop platform — “Thiz Easy Theatre”

through a product launch conference in Beijing

Announced support towards the new Llinux

Standard base (LSB) 2.0

—EEmEt-A EFERBERANE

—ETNF+A

“TTMFNA

AT W58 ) e LR
BREARARBEENA
A%l (AR ERAES
RV

HAREREXRIEE
EFAEBEAHET L
BAIEBERET (2EER
BT A7 S A B A
%)

BE T8 Llinux E58
& P HE B S AT SR B AT
el AR AEER
RIS T Linux fEZ
RERATEBIIRZLE
BARB-—BA_TET

ERH [FELnuxEA
EEE] R

iR EBREREMH
g IE B EF Linux
ZHEBERBIETS
[ BN LR BB |

T #F linux Standard
Base (LSB) 2.0 #iZ%




Corporate Milestone

RERER

July 2004

June 2004

May 2004

Participated in Education Expo 2004 organized

at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre

Commencement of the course for 3rd intake of
"Thiz BEST training programme for Llinux

Professionals of China and Hong Kong”

Signed “Contract for Software Product Bundling”
with LR EABEF AR A

Signed "Training Agreement on Linux “1+1+1
Project”” with /M ERIE T RBESRHRREMA
R 7]

Signed "Strategic Partner Agreement” with Jb /=
EEREBERQA]

Signed “Contract for Software Product Bundling”
with IE RBEEREIBAE R A R A A

Signed "Development Contract on Trademark
Database System” with ZZEE( E)§)BRA
=

Commencement of the course for 2nd intake of
"Thiz BEST training programme for Llinux

Professionals of China and Hong Kong”

—ZETNFLA

—EFERA

—ZETNFAA

SERELGERET
DEBRITH T TMEH
ElEEg

F=H B LlinuxEBEA
BERE] FR

S R ERBE TR
RARNRARER (Bt
EmmFEEAR)

HEMNERE T ASBE
SRR ERAR AR
21 Clinux [1+1+1 T2
i)

B FOE T RAR LD
AIZRAE] (BURS A 1EIKH
1)

BHE B MR A BUS £
AR AR (Bt

EmMFEEAR)

REEEE(LB)ER

RAEFER] (BRBEE
REREaR)

B [ Linux EA
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Corporate Milestone

RERER

April 2004

Invited to participate in the conference on “the
PRC Ministry of Information Industry — Linux

Standard Format”

Signed “Cooperation Agreement” with the fraining
school of Beijing Software Industry Promotion

Centre

Signed "Cooperation Agreement” on "Thiz BEST
fraining program for Linux Professionals of China
and Hong Kong — e-enterprise feacher class” with
the Faculty of Engineering of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong

~ZTETMEMA

BE2HE [FRESE
Kb linu REHIE ] &

E
B R ER R T

DEIBRET (A1F

%)

HEBPXARBTRE
Br &l 2 BHs o0 2R AT
Thiz BEST #7% Linux &
&5 BTl eenterprise

EhEIL A FIHES)




Business Development Strategies
and Plans

BB RIERETE

In line with the Group's fundamental strategy of “Seven Core Businesses”,
the Group in 2004 has taken great leaps in sefting up Dalian Thizlinux
Institute in Northeastern China and Beijing Thizlinux Institute in Northern
China and Thizlinux [Shenzhen) Institute in Southern China. In late 2005,
it is scheduled to sef up Shanghai Thizlinux Institute in Eastern China and
Xian Thizlinux Institute in North-western China. Thizlinux Institute is named
to reflect that it is a R&D department dedicated towards software research
and development. The Group defines the various insfitutes as software
factories producing comprehensive and customized software products
for PC manufacturers. Those products range from desktop operating
systems, multi-media desktop application systems, office application
systems, server operating systems, network applications, mail applications
and firewall applications. It also covers super hub systems to small
embedded applications of Linux. Each institute will provide strong support
to large PC manufacturers and become their partner in the area of software
production. At present, software bundling or authorized development
arrangements have been reached with a number of large PC manufacturers
in China including Peking Founder, Tsinghua Tongfang, Hisense, Haier
and Compower. The Group will strengthen its alliance with those PC
manufacturers in order to leverage on the joint force of cooperation.
Software and hardware bundling will become the main stream trend in
the future. The Group will adhere fo the direction of "userfriendly”, "user

orienfed” and “affordable” for software designs.

PEESEEMNEARTTH [LEXGE] - &F
E-TTMFEEETBKL T RIEARE
REBENS MEETE A TThT - FAERER
1L F BN I FE 72 HT R 1 At e M ZE R KR K
S MERETEA ORI 5k - Wi
R -ZEERFRPRR BN ERKRA
EiBENEs ME e B A Tt b K A AL K& 1)
PR AN e ST A 5ebe - RSB
BRI fE 52 AR (- AT 5 Be mt = B PIAT E Linux
BHREFT - SEBEMARRER /T LT
B ETTHTE PCBRAMZR R RE S
R - TR EMNRERS - ZIRERE
REL - MAERAFRL - RIRSFRIERSR -
BRRER - B TIAREER - KERE
HEmBRRSINERAL Linux B2
JER - BB AE PC KBREEMTT
HESERAFKNE - BATERBEC&ESE
BALKTIE - BERD - BE BB BE
EFPCRBHRF AR L BREFRE - £E
BAEE T EIAKES A PC A EN AN
JZ - hnSR BRAE 2 an B0 AR R S & R R SR A0
Zom IEEFA] - TRABRK] K& [E
HER] TRASBERGTRINELRTTE -
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Business Development Strategies
and Plans

-
R BRRMERETE

On the other hand, with the early completion of the “1+1+1 Project”
collaborated with the Beijing Government Software Industry Promotion
Centre, the Group has trained 100 Linux teachers and 1,800 software
engineers. An upgraded version known as “The IT Experts training
programme for China and Hong Kong” was also subsequently infroduced
for current promotion throughout the nation. With a devoted vision of
"Benefiting Our Country, Our People and Qurselves”, the Group has
placed itself as the firstranking company in providing extensive fraining
on Linux and vocational fraining for Linux software engineers. Despite the
substantial cost of investments, the Group has steadfastly committed itself
towards the expansion of fraining level from social enrolment fo fertiary
educational institutes. Linux education is expected to gain increasing
popularity. Besides, in view of the inclusion of Linux info nationwide

information technology examinations, the linux education is anticipated

fo become widely popular in the future.

Thiz Easy Theatre
BN LR BT

[ BN an 25 |
VolIP network phone card

[EESINESE | MREER

Thiz Easy Shop
B 48 4% B JE %

AN - BEE B R BUR B EE R (R O
SENT+1+1 TR BEIERETK - BT
1001ELinuxB) ZiEm5h - SEEBIFE 71,800
18 Linux BXf4 TAZAM o HA& X HE H B TR A
X% [ TEEEN] - REERZEHE
B FA& (AR AR - M2 efters - &
B 7E Linux 35588 REVE E T B LA K Linux BX
H TIRRM e B R B AT E R A 2 5
— o AR ARKAIER - BEEDARE
BAEITW - SHSBERAIIAER
R linux BIEE RAE BH AR AR
5 B EEERERBKTIRMMERIETE

FHMEMEEEE - KR Llinx BB E
LRI AR




Business Development Strategies

and Plans

BB RIERETE

caring

3

Ms. Isabella Lee, the Group's Vice President,
attended the "caringcompany 2004 /05"
awarding ceremony on behalf of the Company
AEBFFEARBRRARRLE_ZT
M/ EREE [ARARBE] HREE

February 2005
—TTRF_A

Nearly 100 outstanding technological

enterprises attended the first [ ZR/& T Linux
TRERHERERATHERIS ]

BiE [ZRE™ Linux REEERAHERENMAS
BRI 2B5E 100 REFBHX
®E

The Group donated Linux operating systems
and Linux professionals training courses with
a total worth of RMB1.2 million to Zhuhai
municipal government

REERXEEARKE 120 E7TH) Linux £
FZGE Linux AT B FIERIZ A TR0 T IBUT

October 2004
—ZEZFNF+A
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Business Development Strategies
and Plans

Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

14

Announcing the lafest Linux multi-media
software deskiop platform — "Thiz Easy
Theatre" during the product launch
conference in Beijing
FitREREMBEME - EXNEMRHN
linux ZIEEHABRE T A — [BIRER
7

Product launch conference organized in

Beijing

EAEFTRREREMG TG

September 2004
—“TEMFENA

k3

Commencement of the course for the 5th intake of “Thiz BEST training programme for Linux Professionals of China and

Hong Kong” in Hong Kong
FEFHH [Thiz BEST B Linux EABA S]] RENBEEFR

September 2004
—TTNENA




Business Development Strategies 7353 R KM R T2l
and Plans

A programme advisor addresses a visitor's question

in the 2004 Education Expo
Participating in Education Expo 2004 organized at Hong Kong SpIoEEp Rt — BTN EHE TN E Y
Convention and Exhibition Centre

el
2ENESEZREPVRTHN_ZSTNFHEEEGL2RE
iz
July 2004
—ZTTNFLA

Commencement of the course for the 3rd infake
of "Thiz BEST training programme for Linux
Professionals of China and Hong Kong” in
Hong Kong

=5 [Thiz BESTH #Llinux EABEF 2]
WIEREBRRZ LREBER

July 2004
—TEMFELA
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Financial Highlights

Turnover Analysis

2005 (HK$'000)
ZEEHF (TER)

46.3%
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2004 (HK$'000)
ZEEMEF (T

49.0%

Distribution of Group's Linux based software and hardward products

2 7R S B Linux BRI FNAE 14 EE

Sales of computer products

HEEMER

Training income

PN
2005 2004
—ZZTHF —EEEF
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial Position B RR
— Total assets —BEHE 59,864 48,4772
— Total liabilities —BfEEE 44,640 23,043
— Shareholders’ funds —-BERES 15,077 25,429
Financial Ratios MHtE
— Current ratio — e = 1.4 4.5
— Gross profit margin —ER =X 42% 58%
- Gearing ratio —BEABLE 296% 1%




Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Review

Over the past year, the Group has made great efforts o set up Thizlinux
Institutes in three major regions namely Beijing, Dalian and Shenzhen
(Northern China, Northeastern China and Southern Chinal). Such institutes
can perform as training bases for all software engineers frained under
"1+1+1 Project” to accumulate solid development experiences. They
can also be bases for senior software development engineers. At the
same time, they have also complemented the Group’s shortage of
competent software development engineers. As for fraining, the Group
has formulated generalized training and vocational fraining and has
achieved fruitful results in PRC. At the product side, Linux multi-media
software “Thiz Easy Theatre” was awarded a LSB2.0 international
certification, using the latest state-of-art kernel technology, “Thiz Easy Shop”
was accredited with “Users’ Satisfaction” in the category of open source

opp|icoﬁon by the Ministry of Information |ndusfr\/ in China.

On the other hand, the Group cooperated with China Unicom to launch
" BIEF 4R 3E ", an VolP network phone software and phone card, and
has supplied to large PC manufacturers including Tsinghua Tong Fung
and Hisense. Such network phone software will emerge to become the
leading revolutionary trend for the new generation by capitalizing on its
functions of visualrecording, audiorecording, video conferencing, short
messages, instant communication, text-based chatting and real-time

information. Tens of thousands of users are currently using the phone

card pre-installed inside the PCs at the time of delivery.

=] ]

RBEF—FNED TRES
WM~ ANELER - KE - ORI =EKER
(FdL - Rt~ #m) 23U 7 RIEFER
BTl - —RATAR BRI A 1+1+1
T2 | APIEFl R Bt TiZp - R E R
FE TR - —RAI AR RE R
HREIRMNEE  FARERTEEE
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Prospect
With the tactic of “Four Wheels in One Track with Cross-duplication”,

new products innovated by the Thizlinux Institutes have been gradually
infroduced. In the future, application software will continuously be
launched. On the VolIP horizon, proven results has already emerged
through the strategy of PC bundling. Such bundling by large PC
manufacturers in their PCs may become a configuration standard for all
PC manufacturers. Despite dampened fraining atmosphere in the society,
the vocational training for Linux software engineers continued fo enjoy
promising prospect. We are proud to report all graduates with solid
development training from the institutes have become extremely desired
talents, as indicated by the fact that 90% of them are employed in highly
rewarding industries. Our e-commerce, e-malls and “Thiz Easy Shop”
have gradually received more public recognition. Although our four core
businesses are distinctive in their unique characteristics, they are inferactive
and complementary with each other. While the Group has displayed its
edges in core technologies related to Linux, it is confident to create

encouraging results for its business as the time moves on.

Lin Chien Hsin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2005
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Business Review
Based on the "Seven Core Businesses”, the Group's business strafegies

had been implemented by the respective subsidiaries.

1. Taiwan Segment

Our research and development team in Taiwan had always been
committed to developing e-commerce applications. Apart from
modification and fine-tuning of the B2B and B2C e-commerce softwares,
we also integrated cash flows, goods flows and information stream info
one single Linux server, which brought to customers such advantages of
security, userfriendly and noise-free. The server was simple fo run and
users could comprehend the on-line shop funcfions in around 10 minutes.
Moreover, in order to enhance the publicity of the users, our Group had
listed all the "Thiz Easy Shop” users on "Owners Zone". As such, we
hope to gather sfrength to build up awareness and recognition for "Owners
Zone" so as to reach a "win-win” situation between both “Owners Zone”

and the users community.
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2. Hong Kong Segment

On fop of its research and development of core technology in operating
system, the Group’s business had also extended to research and
development of multirmedia operating system. A product launch conference
for our Linux multi-media software deskiop platform — “Thiz Easy Theatre”
was held in Beijing on 8th September, 2004 with the academician from
China Institute of Science, Mr. Ni Guangnan as the guest speaker to
deliver a speech. Mr. Ni had always been dedicated fo promoting open
of source codes. Representatives from leading PC manufacturers like Peking
Founder, Tsinghua Tongfang, Compower, Hisense, Haier, TCL and Great
Wall had also been invited to deliver speeches. The Group had also
pioneered in ascribing a “"people come first” concept to new deskiop
software, which meant, in essence, new deskiop software should have
readily available basic multi-media application, while VWindows or Linux
operating systems should be treated as drawers which allowed users to
open and refrieve other applications or files needed. Deskiop software,
on the other hand, should retain such common and necessary functions
like DVD home theatre, television, web browsing, photo browsing,
document backup, sysfem tools, net phone and remote mainfenance efc.
QOur product, known as “Thizlinux Deskiop 8.0 (Thiz Easy Theatre)”
received great support from major PC manufacturers with Hisense,
Compower and Tsinghua Tongfang had immediately placed orders with
the Group and Haier had made a request on customisation of the software.
On the other hand, Institute of Thiz Technology in Hong Kong had prepared
a new generation of Linux fraining programme (The IT Experts fraining
programme for China and Hong Kong) which included general and
database programming, 3D animation, embedded Java mobile phone
gome applications as well as onine game programming fraining courses.
The programme will be launched during the second half of 2005 and

the Group is confident that it will receive wide recognition and support.
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3. The PRC Segment

In line with the State's specification of software development bases, the
Group had classified Beijing, Shanghai, Dalian, Shenzhen, Xian of the
PRC, into Northeastern, Eastern, Northern, Southern, Northwestern
regions, and set up “Thizlinux Institutes”. For Beijing, Dalian and Shenzhen,
locations had been decided and the insfitutes had been established in
2004, and they had become the major places where Linux software
engineers were frained up. The fraining programme under “1+1+1 Project”
had the whole country as its farget in admitting students , and the
establishment of training centres all over the country had been well
underway. As at March 2005, the programme had admitted over 1,800
students, with more than 1,000 graduates. Among them, 900 graduates
had completed their study and being employed in highly paid positions.
In future, student admission of the programme would be further extended
geographically, and types of the programmes would also be increased
as well, such as embedded kernel development and development of
Java mobile phone game. Furthermore, the Group would focus in
complementing the national examination of information technology by
the Electronic Information Application Centre of Ministry of Information
Industry of China, such that it would reach out to all major tertiary
educational institutes, private high schools, polytechnics to promote Linux
computing education in order fo affain the target of admission of 200,000
students in 3 years time. The Group’s Thizlinux Software [Shenzhen)
Company Limited had also signed a contract with China Unicom to form
a strategic partnership and had launched " BNEF 2R & “ VoIP software
and phone card as the basic fool for net phone. The product had inifially
attracted several hundred thousands of users and the goal was to
accumulate 1 million of new users every year. As to "Thiz Easy Shop”,
the product had been awarded the first choice recommendation of new

venture's product by the Beijing Labour Bureau, and had also been
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awarded the "Users’ Satisfaction” in the category of open source
application by the Ministry of Information Industry. Our CEQ, Mr. Wong
Hoi Wong, had also been awarded the "Open Software Leadership”.
With our motto of “Benefiting Our Country, Our People and Ourselves”,
the Group would continue to sfrive for promoting the application of Linux

software.

Financial Review

Financial highlights

The consolidated tumover of the Group for the year ended 3 1st March,
2005 was HK$ 18,333,000 [2004: HK$37,415,000), representing
o decrease of 51% compared to the previous year. The significant
decrease in revenue was brought by the termination of a major contract
for distribution of the Group's Linux based software products due fo breach
of contract by the customer. The Group has successfully obtained
judgement from the court to recover the outstanding amount of
HK$50,700,000 from the customer. Besides, turnover from trading in
computer products also dropped significantly due fo fierce competition

and poor market conditions.

In line with the significant decrease in turnover, gross profit for the Group
decreased from HK$21,565,000 in 2004 to HK$7,703,000 in 2005,
while the gross profit margin dropped from 57.6% to 42.0%. The major
reason for the decreases in gross profitability was due to decrease in the
distribution of the Group's Linux based software products that had much
higher profit margins. Although the weight of trading in computer products
and training income has increased during the year, it was of much lower

profit margin.

During the year, provision for doubtful debts of HK$ 1,757,000 (2004:
HK$13,048,000) had been made for several outstanding trade debtors.

The Group had acfively taken procedures to demand settlements.
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Total operating costs were approximately HK$22,707,000 (2004
HK$22,516,000). As a percentage to turnover, this represents an increase
from 60.2% in 2004 to 123.9% in 2005.

Loss atfributable to shareholders and loss per share for the year were
HK$22,595,000 (2004: HK$13,353,000) and HK$0.98 cents
(2004: HK$0.73 cents) respectively.

Capitalization

During the vyear, the Group had capitalized operating costs of
approximately HK$9,359,000 (2004: HK$4,172,000) in respect of
development of the Group’s Linux based products, proprietary fraining

materials and e-commerce application systems.

Financial resources and liquidity

As at 31st March, 2005, shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
HK$15,077,000 (2004: HK$25,429,000). Current assets amounted
to HK$43,756,000 (2004: HK$40,997,000), of which
HK$3,657,000 (2004: HK$2,542,000) were cash and bank deposits.
Current liabilities of HK$30,440,000 (2004: HK$9,043,000) mainly
comprised of trade payables, other payables and accruals, convertible
notes, and amounts due to a Director and his spouse. There was also a
provision for tax payable of HK$6,184,000. Current ratio of the Group
was 1.4 (2004 4.5).
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As at 31st March, 2005, the Group had nef current assets of
approximately HK$13,316,000 (2004: HK$31,954,000). The

Directors considered the Group's liquidity position was generally healthy.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio calculated on the basis of total liabilities over

shareholders’ funds as at 3 1st March, 2005 is 296.1% (2004: 90.6%).

Unlisted convertible notes

There were HK$ 14,000,000 unlisted convertible notes bearing interest
of 2.5% per annum, of which HK$4,000,000 will mature at 16th January,
20006 and the remaining HK$ 10,000,000 will mature at 25th March,
2007. The nofes are convertible info new shares of the Company atf a

conversion price of HK$0.034 per share (subject to adjustments).

Unlisted non-voting convertible preference shares

On 7th April, 2005, the Company entered info a conditional subscription
agreement with independent subscribers for the subscription of unlisted
non-voting convertible preference shares at an issue price of HK0.013
each, with fotal principal of HK$5,200,000. The preference shares
bear fixed cumulative dividend perpetually at the rate of 2% per annum
and are convertible info new shares of the Company on a one to one
basis. Details of the issue of the preference shares are set out in the

Company’s announcement on 8th April, 2005.

At the balance sheet date, part of the subscription monies of
HK$4,200,000 was received by the Company. The preference shares
were subsequently issued and allotted on 26th May, 2005.
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Exposure to foreign exchange risk
The functional currencies of the Group's operations are Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi and New Taiwan dollars. The Directors consider that the potential

foreign exchange exposure of the Group is limited.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities
As at 31st March, 2005, the Group had no charge or pledge of assets

and material contingent liabilities.

Capital commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Group had capital commitments of
HK$ 1,950,000 (or USD250,000), in relation to capital injection into a
subsidiary in the PRC.

Employees and remuneration policies
Human resource capital is a major resource of the Group. The Group
recognized this by providing substantial opportunities on the job, and

courage personal development and training of the staff.

As at 31st March, 2005, the Group had about 160 employees, including
Directors of the Company. Total staff costs for the year under review
including Director's remuneration amounted to approximately
HK$16,741,000 (2004: HK$14,718,000). The overall workforce had
been very stable and turnover rate remains very low. The staffs were
remunerated based on their work performance, professional experience
and prevailing market practices. In addition to basic salaries and
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, the Group also offered staff benefits
including medical insurance, share options, performance bonus and sales

commission.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

EENGSEEBEAESEN

Executive Directors

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Chairman

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, aged 51, graduated from the Economic Faculty of
Taiwan University and had involved in research studies in Harvard and
Standford Business Schools. He was the Vice President of Holtek
Semiconductor Manufacturing Co., ltd in 1999. Besides, he was also
the Chief Financial Officer of United Microelectronics Corporation from
1983 to 2001, a semi-conductor manufacturer whose shares are listed
in the Stock Exchange of Taiwan, and had been working there for about
18 years. He has in-depth knowledge in financial management. He was
appointed as Executive Director and Chairman of the Group on 24th
December, 2002.

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, aged 50, is an Executive Director and a founder
of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 27 years’ experience in sales and
markefing, in particular in electronics and computer industries. Mr. Wong
was the Chairman of Association of Electronic Components Industry of
Taipei from 1990 to 1993. He oversees the sales and marketing strategies
of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the Department of Industrial

Management of Tamsui Oxford College in Taiwan with a diploma.

Ms. Wanzi Huang

Ms. Wanzi Huang, aged 30, is the Deputy Chairman and a founder of
the Group. She has about @ years’ experience in computer trading and
international tfrading. She is responsible for marketing the Group's Linux
products fo computer manufacturers in the USA. Ms. Huang graduated
with a Bachelor's Degree in Administration in Fundagao Getulio Vargas

in Brazil.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Li Zhe

Ms. Li Zhe, aged 35, is a qualified PRC lawyer. Ms. Li graduated with a
Bachelor's Degree in Economic Law from Zhongshan University, the PRC,
a Master’s Degree of Business Administration from Murdoch University,
Australia and a Postgraduate Diploma in law from the Manchester
Metropolitan University of the United Kingdom. Ms. Li has served a number
of law firms in the PRC and Hong Kong. She was appointed as an

Independem non-executive Director H’]JU|\/ 2001.

Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward

Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward, aged 44, is a solicitor and pariner of Messrs.
Alfred Lam, Keung & Ko. He holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree and is a
member of The law Society of Hong Kong. Mr. Ko has been practicing
as a solicitor in Hong Kong for more than 14 years. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive director in January 2004. Mr. Ko is
non-executive director of New Smart Holdings Limited and also
independent non-executive director of Sinochem Hong Kong Holdings
Limited and Guo Xin Group limited. He was previously an independent
non-execufive director of INNOMAXX Biotechnology Group Limited from
March 2001 to September 2003. Mr. Ko was appointed as Deputy
Presiding Officer of Labour Tribunal from July 2000 to January 2002. He
is presently a Member of the Panel of Adjudicators of the Obscene Arficles
Tribunal.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

BEERSEEEAEGEN

Independent Non-executive Directors (confinued)

Mr. Chu Wei Jen

Mr. Chu Wei Jen, aged 54, graduated with a Master Degree in
Accountancy from National Chengchi University of Taiwan and is under
doctorate studies in Accountancy in JiNan University, Guangzhou, the
PRC. He is an experienced public accountant practising for about 20
years and has extensive experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Chu
is currently a parter and the head of T.C. International CPAs in Taiwan.
In the past, he had also served the civil and education sectors as an
executive supervisor of Taipei Cerfified Public Accountants Association
and a member of Compliance Committee of Taiwan Provincial Certified
Public Accountants Association, and a parttime lecturer in Fu Jen Catholic

University and Chinese Culture University of Taiwan for over 10 years.
Senior Management

Mr. So King Yan

Mr. So King Yan, aged 30, is the Senior Deputy General Manager of
the Group, overseeing Linux development projects. Mr. So has over 12
years of experience in computer and Linux programming. He graduated
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree and
Master of Philosophy Degree in Computer Science and Engineering,
and had conducted research on mobile file system in Linux. Prior to joining
the Group in August 2001, he had involved in the design and development
of a marketing platform based on J2EE technology using Weblogic and
Oracle on linux platform. He also tutored undergraduate computer courses

on linux at The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

EERSEBEEAERN

Senior Management (confinued)

Mr. Chan Sai Yan

Mr. Chan Sai Yan, aged 30, is the Financial Controller of the Group,
and the Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant of the Company.
He graduated with a Bachelor's Degree in Accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and a Master's Degree in Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is also an
Associate Member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of
the United Kingdom. He is responsible for the Group's accounting, finance,
legal, human resources and administrative functions. Mr. Chan has over
8 years of experience in accounting, finance and administration. Prior fo
joining the Group, he was financial accountant of Lliu Chong Hing

Investment Limited. He joined the Group in December 2002.
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for

the year ended 31st March, 2005.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities

of its subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2005 are set

out in the consolidated income sfatement on page 48.

The direcfors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect

of the year ended 31st March, 2005.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the five
years ended 31st March, 2005 is set out on pages 115 to 116

respectively.

FIXED ASSETS

The Group purchased fixed assets amounted to approximately
HK$ 1,608,000 during the year. Details of movements in fixed assets of
the Company and the Group are set out in note 12 to the financial

statements.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year

and the reason thereof are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 24 1o the financial statements and the

consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 53 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31st March, 2005, the Company had no distributable reserves.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
Neither the Company, nor any of ifs subsidiaries purchased, redeemed

or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

B
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors who held office during the year were: -

Executive directors:
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Ms. Wanzi Huang

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. Li Zhe
Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward
Mr. Chu Wei Jen
[appointed on 28ih September, 2004)

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company's Articles of Association,
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin and Ms. Wanzi Huang shall refire and, being eligible,

offer themselves for reelection at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Ms. Li Zhe, Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward and Mr. Chu Wei Jen were not
appointed for a specific term as they are subject fo retirement and re-
election af the Company’s Annual General Meeting in accordance with

the Company’s Arficles of Association.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (confinued)

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Ms. Li Zhe, Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward and Mr. Chu Wen Jen shall refire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

No director has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than sfatutory compensation.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed his/her
independence to the Company pursuant fo Rule 5.09 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "GEM”) (the "GEM Listing
Rules”) for the year ended 31st March, 2005 and the Company considers

the independent non-executive directors fo be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 31 fo the financial
statements, no other contracts of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest subsisted at the end of the year or af any time

during the year.
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Directors’ Report

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company operated a share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”),

which was adopted pursuant to a resolufion passed on 6th July, 2001,
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards fo eligible participants
who contributed to the success of the Group's operations. Eligible
participants of the Old Scheme included any fulHime executive director
or employee of a company within the Group. The Old Scheme should
remain in force for 10 years from 6th July, 2001 during which the directors

might make offer to grant share opfions fo eligible participants.

Pursuant to the terms of the Old Scheme, the maximum number of share
options permitted fo be granted is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as af the dafe of
commencement of dealings of the Company’s shares on the GEM unless
further shareholders' approval has been obtained (See remark (i) and
the maximum number of shares issuable under share options fo each
parficipant in the Old Scheme shall not exceed 25% of the maximum
number of share opfions which may be granted under the Old Scheme

(See remark (ii)).
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (confinued)

Remarks:

Since the adoption of the Old Scheme on 6th July, 20071,
amendments have been made to Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules in respect of Share Option Scheme whereby if
the Company wishes to continue to grant options under the
Old Scheme on or after 1st October, 2001, it must also comply

with the requirements sef out therein.

(i) with effect from 1st October, 2001, the maximum number
of the Company’s shares which can be granted under the
Old Scheme and any other schemes must not exceed 10%

of the Company’s shares in issue at the date of approval.

(i) with effect from 1st October, 2001, the maximum number
of the Company's shares which can be granted fo each
participant must not in any 12-month period exceed 1%

of the Company's shares in issue.
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Directors’ Report

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (confinued)

Any grant of share options to a connected person (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors. Where share options are proposed to be granted fo a connected
person who is also a substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his/her respective associafes,
and the proposed grant of share opfions, when aggregate with the options
already granted fo that connected person in the past 12-month period,
would entitle him,/her to receive more than O.1% of the total issued share
capifal of the Company for the time being and the value of which is in
excess of HK$5 million, then the proposed grant must be subject to the

approval of shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

The consideration for the grant of an option is HK$ 1 each. An option
may be exercised at any time during a period as determined by the
directors which shall not be less than three years and not more than ten
years from the date of acceptance of options offered under the Old

Scheme by the grantee.

Pursuant to ordinary resolutions passed on 5th August, 2004, the Old
Scheme was terminated with immediate effect provided that options which
have been granted and remain outstanding shall continue fo be exercisable
in accordance with their terms of issue and the provisions of Chapter 23
of GEM Llisting Rules. The Company has adopted a new share option
scheme (the "New Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on the same

date.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (confinued)

Details of the New Scheme are set out in note 23 to the financial

statements. No share option was granfed under the New Scheme.

A summary of the movements of the outstanding share options granted

under the Old Scheme during the year, which continue fo be exercisable,

is as follows: —
Number of share options
FmRERHE
Adjustment for
Outstanding  rights issue of Outstanding
Name of asat  the Company’s as at
director 1.4.2004 shares 31.3.2005
RZSSME WELERSL RISSRE
mA—A ZHEER =R=+-H
EEft ARTE fEHH A% i RATE
[Note 2)
(Hfzt2)
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong 1,819,014 123,091 1,942,105
FolELE
Ms. Wanzi Huang 18,345,423 1,247,420 19,586,843
BRMAL

20,164,437 1,364,511 21,528,948

MEEstE (&)

et 8l 2 FHBER M MRMEE 23 - BHE

IRIBFTET 3R DA B AE -

FRRBE SR Z HARTTEBRE (7]

HergErTE) BEpBlAmT

Exercise
price Exercise
Date of grant  per share period
-1
FHAY fTEfE T
HKS
BT
[Note 2| (Note 1)
(st 2) Mz 1)
21st November, 0.266 30th June, 2002
2001 fo 2%th June, 2012
—TT-F —TTCF
+—B=+—H ~NA=ZTHZE
—E——F
AAZTNE
21st November, 0.266 30th June, 2002
2001 fo 2%th June, 2012
—ET-f eSSt 2
+—-A=+-H ~A=tEZ
—E-—F
~NBZthE
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Directors’ Report

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (confinued)

The exercise price is to be defermined by the directors at their absolute
discrefion but in any event not less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company; (i) the average of the closing prices
of the shares of the Company on the GEM for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date on which the relevant option is granted
to the employee; and (iii) the closing price of the shares of the Company

on the GEM on the dafe on which the relevant option is granted.

Notes:

1. The share options are fully vested on 30th June, 2002.

2. The exercise price and the outstanding number of options have been adjusted

for the rights issue of the Company's shares on 2 1st December, 2004.

At 31st March, 2005, the number of shares to be issued under share
options granted under the Old Scheme was 21,528,948, representing

0.7% of the issued share capital of the Company.

No share option was granfed and lapsed during the year under the Old

Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31st March, 2005, the interests or short positions of the directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of s associated corporations {within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO"), Chapter 571
under the Llaws of Hong Kong), which were nofified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant fo Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant fo Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be

nofified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows: —

EFERFBRTRARRELATESZHG

RZETRF=A=1+—H SEEZKEE
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (confinued)

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

Company
Type of interests and
number of shares held
BRWEHRAFERSHE
Personal Other
Name of director interest interest
EEER BAERZ Hhiga
(Note)
(Hiez)
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin 529,500,000 -
FUSES e
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong - 449,700,000
TFEELAE
Ms. Wanzi Huang 129,688,500 -
EYiH LT

Note: These shares are registered in the name of Eaglemax International
Investment Limited ("EIIL"), a company owned by Infelligent Management
Limited (“IML") as the trustee of Intelligent Management Discretionary Trust,
a family discretionary frust, the objects of which include Mr. Wong Hoi
Wong, his family and any charity in the world. As at 3 1st March, 2005,
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong held the entire issued share capital of IML. By
virtue of SFO, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong has an interest of such shares.

EFREETRARRELAFEBGZHE
(&)

() AAALBERREBRAZEAR

Percentage

Number of the
of share Company'’s
options issued share
held Total capital
GELTF

FRds ERTERE

MR ERE st Bffkt
- 529,500,000 17.29%
1,942,105 451,642,105 14.75%
19,586,843 149,275,343 4.88%

Bifat - szt 5 T3 bAEaglemax International Invest-
ment Limited ([EIL]) 7 ZEERFE © #Z
A AlA Intelligent Management Limited
(MMLD) AR &2 HE(EFE Intelligent Man-
agement Discrefionary Trust 2 Z5EA & 17
A A ARETIEEER
HFEBARZREAESEE - R -TF
AFE=ZA=+—H  TIEELREIM
2EEEITRA - KIEER BRI
TR TEHAZERD 2 -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (confinued)

(b) Short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
Save as disclosed herein, as at 31st March, 2005, none of the
directors had short positions in the shares or underlying shares of

equity derivatives of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31st March, 2005, none of the directors
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were notified 1o the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing

Rules, to be nofified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

EERFERITHRARRELAFIEGZHE
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Directors’ Report

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31st March, 2005, the following persons [not being the directors

and chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the

SFO as follows: —

Name of shareholders

Number of shares held

FEERZES
RZZETRF=A=1+—H  BEEHFRH
EIRGIEXVERSE 2 & 3D B T B 5
NEREGRBIE 33O TERFE 2 Facflpr
FLERZ AR R - AR RESF 2R
FREEZAT ERRREEREZTHA
8) mT:

Percentage of the Company’s

issued share capital

R B FrisB {8 B HELFERTHRFESL
EllL (Note) 449,700,000 14.69%
Bl (Kyaz)

324,340,000 10.59%

Applied Component Technology Corporation
SIERIAR I BR AR

Note: The shares held in the name of EllL are duplication of the shares held by the
director, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong.

Save as disclosed above, as af 31st March, 2005, there was no person
[not being the directors and chief executives of the Company) who had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be

kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Inferests in Securities of the Company” and “Substantial
Shareholders' Inferests” above, as at 31st March, 2005, no other person
was individually and/or collectively entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at general meetings of the
Company and was able, as a practical matter, fo direct or influence the

management of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 53.77% of the tofal purchases of the Group
and the purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted

for approximately 12.72%.

The sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 31.65% of the fofal sales for the year and the sales to the

largest customer included therein accounted for approximately 12.68%.

None of the directors, their respective associates and shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company) had any inferest in any of the

five largest customers and suppliers of the Group for the year.

THERRZHG
BREXEEREBITRABRARRES
2] M [EERR 2 #m | MEFTRE
EFON - RZTTRF=A=+—1H  #EH
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RARBERIEHIETREEZE S -
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BERIEAEREA 53.77% - MASAHIER AT
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Directors’ Report

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules during the

year are sef out in nofe 31 to the financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the directors, the substantial shareholders or the management
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in
any business which competed with or might compete with the business of

the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 5.34 TO 5.45 OF THE GEM
LISTING RULES

The Company has complied with Rules 5.34 to 5.45 of the GEM listing
Rules concerning board practices and procedures during the year ended

31st March, 2005.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an Audit Committee in August 2001 with

writfen ferms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.29 to 5.32 of the
GEM listing Rules. The duties of the audit committee are to review and to
provide supervision over the financial reporting process and internal control
system of the Group. The audit committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors, namely Ms. Li Zhe, Mr. Ko Ming Tung, Edward
and Mr. Chu Wei Jen.

During the year, the audit committee has met four times to review the

results of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. PKF, is to be

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meefing.

On behalf of the Board

Lin Chien Hsin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2005
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Auditors’ Report

AR &

PKF

Accountants &
business advisers

26/F, Citicorp Centre
18 Whitfield Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

To the members of
Thiz Technology Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 48 to 114 which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDITORS

The Company'’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statfements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial statements
which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate

accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
audit, on those statements and fo report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. VWe do not assume responsibility towards

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Auditors’ Report

B EN RS

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made
b\/ the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's and

the Group’s circumsfances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order fo provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements. VWe believe that our audit provides

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at 31st March, 2005
and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PKF
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27th June, 2005
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Consolidated Income Statement

mEWRER

For the year ended 3 1st March, 2005

Turnover

Cost of sales

Cross profit

Other revenue

Provision for doubtful debts
Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Loss from operations

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Tax

Loss affer tax

Minority interests

Loss attributable to shareholders

Dividend

Loss per share

— Basic (in cents)

E

HE A

EF

HAsd A
RIREMR
HERDIHER
—REITEER

BRI A& R
IR

BRI 1% 5 18
DB R s

R ER

e

FhEE

—&K ()

HBE—ZEERF=H=1—HIFFE

2005 2004

—EEEF  —TIWE

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
KfaE TFET FEIT
4 18,333 37,415
(10,630) (15,850)

7,703 21,565

4 434 746
(1,757) (13,048)

(5,052) (3,259
(17,655) (19,257)
(16,327) (13,253)
(326) (100
5 (16,653) (13,353)
8(a) (6,172) -
(22,825) (13,353)

230 -
9 (22,595) (13,353)

(0.98) (0.73)




Consolidated Balance Sheet

SREEERER

At 31st March, 2005

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed assets
Product development costs

Goodwill

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Cash and bank balances

DEDUCT:
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables, accruals and
deposifs received

Amount due to a director

Amount due to a spouse of a director

Convertible notes
Tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax
Proceeds of convertible
preference shares
received in advance
Proceeds of convertible notes
received in advance
Convertible notes

MINORITY INTERESTS
NET ASSETS
REPRESENTING: -

SHARE CAPITAL
RESERVES

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27th

June, 2005

R-ZEERF=H=1—H

2005 2004
—EThREF —ZTE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
MtaE FEiT FET
JERTDEE
EEEE 12 2,193 1,613
EEhF BN 14 13,915 5,862
RAl= ]5 - -
16,108 7,475
mEEE
FE 16 2,529 645
JEULBR TR 17 33,321 34,892
H {th eI RIA -
e RTENFIE 4,249 2,918
e RRITET 18 3,657 2,542
________ 43,756 40,997
i
mER R
& ARIA 19 2,064 564
i 30 -

FERTFIE R B YRS 6,542 4,376
JENEE A 20 6,652 4,091
FEfTE B R BFRIE 21 4,998 -
EIEd et 27 4,000 -
JEZSFH IR 6,184 12

.....30440 | 2,043
mENEERE 13,316 31,954
HERRDAREE
29,424 39,429
ERBER
TERER IR 8(b) - -
TEUR AT AR

BERE

I8 25 4,200 -
TEUR AR =R

FR1S50R 26 - 10,000
AR =R 27 10,000 4,000

14,200 14,000
PEBBRRER 147 -
HESHE 15,077 25,429
aiF:
B 22 30,617 20,411
i 24 (15,540) 5018
BREL 15,077 25,429
Eg:;ﬁgﬂiz‘_\ﬂ “ttHEKEEg AR
BT
Lin Chien Hsin Wong Hoi Wong
HEMH g
Director Director
S EE
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Balance Sheet EEAER

At 3 1st March, 2005 R-FEERF=H=+—H
2005 2004
—ETHEF —EENEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
et Fi&T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBDEE
Fixed assets BEEEE 12 4 82
Interests in subsidiaries P ENGIPA 3 13 31,294 38,702
31,298 38,784
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Other receivables, deposits and H e FRE -
prepayments e RIENIA 1,019 1,120
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTT481F 5 5
.. 1,024 1,125
DEDUCT: i
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBER
Other payable and accruals L FE AN IR & SRR 759 527
Amount due to a director JENEE B 20 - 49
Convertible notes Bl &2 27 4,000 -
__________ 4,759 576
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) /ASSETS RE (AR) EERE (3,735) 549
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BERRE
LIABILITIES AEEE 27,563 39,333
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAR
Proceeds of convertible L CIE:)
preference shares BRI
received in advance FT{S 3018 25 4,200 -
Proceeds of convertible notes TR AT HA R 24
received in advance F{S5008 26 - 10,000
Convertible notes Bl E2i 27 10,000 4,000
14,200 14,000
NET ASSETS HERE 13,363 25,333
REPRESENTING: — a1 :
SHARE CAPITAL 7. 22 30,617 20,411
RESERVES {3 0 24 (17,254) 4,922
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS BREL 13,363 25,333
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27th  RZZEZRF AT HAKESTSHAER
June, 2005 IR
Lin Chien Hsin Wong Hoi Wong
HEH EEE
Director Director

EF EF




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mERTRER

For the year ended 3 1st March, 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before fax
Adjustment for: —
Interest income
Interest expenses
Provision for doubiful debis
Bad debts written off
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Depreciation
Amortisation

Operating (loss)/ profit before
working capital changes
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other
receivables, deposifs
and prepayments
Decrease in amount due from
a related company
Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables,
accruals and deposits received
Increase in amounts due fo directors
Effect on foreign exchange
rate changes

Cash used in operations
Interest received

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Note
HtaF

EEREL

BenE

BB AR
HE

A BUA

M BRI
R
EHEH R
HEBTEEERRE
e

e (B8R 87
FEEM
FEU AR TRIE hN
H it R RIR

CBE

RIEAFE () md
Y —RAREATR

IR
JE S BRIRIE BN
HAGEN IR - E5T

HIAK B IR S IE N
FETE SRR N
SN I R H)

a7

REXGRARE
EHFE

EERBMA

H&BHm

HE-FTRF=A=1—ALTE

2005 2004 ﬁ
—EERE —TTNE 9
HK$/000 HK$'000 g

Fi#T FHET S

<

Q.

Q£

3

(16,653) (13,353) =
(5) (2)
326 100
1,757 13,048
66 -
135 -

456 577

1,306 943
(12,612) 1313

(1,884) (343)
(252) (16,653)
(1,331) 420
- 6
1,500 24
1,840 2,267
- 746

(228) 9
(12,967) (12,211)

5 2
(12,962) (12,209)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

GERERER (8)

For the year ended 3 1st March, 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments to acquire fixed assefs
Sales proceeds of fixed assets
Product development

expenditure incurred

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Proceeds of convertible
preference shares received
in advance

Proceeds of convertible notes
received in advance

Capital contributions from a
minority shareholder

Advances from a director
and his spouse

NET CASH FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 31ST MARCH

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

BE—TERF=A=1—HIFE

2005 2004
—EZTHE —EFTF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt TF#ET FEIT
BEEE
ZHEeRE
AREREEEE 2K (1,608) (654)
& B E B EFTS 58 57 8
EmRAERE
(8,979) (4,113)
BEFERA
Re P (10,530 4759
MEEEZ
ReRE
BT TS 518 13,267 9,086
BRIATITRIX (796) (788)
TE U AT # AR
B5ERR
Fr{S 5038 4,200 —
TEUS AT AR R AR
FRS#A - 10,000
HE 377 -
EEXZRERBZ
B 7,559 —
MEEFEZ
ReR 24607 18298
ReRR&EHE
HBEMBRE 1,115 1,330
REMZHER
Re&EHEEH 2,542 1,212
R=R=1+—HZHE&R
Re&SEEE 3,657 2,542
ReRR&EHE
HESH
e MRITHET 3,657 2,542




Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

mERABER

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

At 1.4.2003

Rights issue of shares
Share issue expenses
Exchange adjustment
on translation of the
financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries
Loss affributable to

shareholders

At 31.3.2004 and
1.4.2004
Rights issue of shares
Share issue expenses
Exchange adjusiment
on franslation of the
financial statements of

foreign subsidiaries

Loss aftributable fo

shareholders

At 31.3.2005

RZZZ=F
MA—H

I ESE]

Bip B

BEFsHN
WEAR
iy sie ol
EH AR

R
B

T,%
A
=
W

I

o AN
AT A

|

m

Pl
|1
m M +
=
y

n
HREE

m
\

BnB1TR%

BME
NG|
Eipre el
B

PR AL
B

HE-FTRF=A=+—HILFE

R-BBEE
ZA=t+-H

Capital

Share Share redemption Special  Exchange Accumulated

capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BERE
2.3 BiHER 140 TR OR ER RithiE #t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET TET TET FET T FET
(Note 24[i))
(Hirzt 24(i))

16,461 17,658 84 360 6 (4,094) 30,475
3,950 5,136 = = = = 9,086
- (788 - - - - (788
S s s s 9 S 9
- - - - - (13,353 (13,353
20,411 22,006 84 360 15 (17,447 ) 25,429
10,206 3,061 = = = = 13,267
- (796) - - - - (796)
- - = - (228 - (228)
= = = = = (22,595 (22,595
30,617 24,271 84 360 (213)  (40,042) 15,077
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
(Cap. 22 law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands on 6th December, 2000.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”)
on 27th July, 2001.

On 11th October, 2002, the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission approved the establishment of level 1 American
Depository Receipt program for the Company’s shares in the United

States of America.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of

these financial statements are set out below: —

(a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and comply with Statements of Standard Accounting Practice
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and are prepared under the hisforical

cost convention.

- FFAF=A=1— AR

LERREH
ARARR_ZTRF+ - ARNARE
RESHBERAE(—NA—FFIRE
I 22F - BiFARIER]) KR SE
SEMKZ SEREERAT -

ARABHR BT —FLA -+t
BERBHMARZ AR AFRIER
(T8IZMR]) £ -

—PT-£+AT—R - XEESR
SERFIERARARHNEER

Y E-REBERSFFIEREE -

FEERE
RV RRET PR Z EBEFTIK
REIIAOE -

() #MWBEXE
MBRERBRBEF ARG R
mE - INARBBEMAE
(IBEEEMAE]) Bhzg
ATERER - BIFRERTIRES
FRAEBImEL -




Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to

31st March each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate. All significant intra-group
fransactions and balances have been eliminated on

consolidation.

Minority interess represent the inferests of outside shareholders

in the results and nef assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration
over the atfributable share of the fair value of separable net
assets of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is
stated in the consolidated balance sheet af cost less aggregate

amortisation and any impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over its

estimated useful life of not more than 20 years.

= FFAF= A=+ AR

2. FEEHBE (B)

(b)

(c)

meEX

IRE TS MR BB AR T REMN
BRARBESF=A=1+—HIt
ZEATEIER

RERYBRHEZMBARE
BERERWERNMEBER
RHEEBRMILE RERBRM
) FEAGREREERA - RER
RREMBEAR 5 MEHRER
A RRE R -

DB R TR INTBCRR A
REMBRREENEEFELZ
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BEEEANBBRHEEE AR
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(d)

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment], or in providing products or services within a
parficular economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from

those of other segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are defermined before intra-group balances and infra-group
fransactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except fo the extent that such infra-group balances
and fransactions are between group enterprises within a single

segment.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one

period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate

assefs, borrowings, corporate and financing expenses.

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

2. FEEHBE (B)

(d)

SRR
SPAEBTES AL ERH
EQHBS (EHHE) - TR
AT R R A R RS
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(e)

(f)

Revenue recognition
Distribution income of Linux based software and hardware
products developed by the Group is recognised when the

right fo receive payment is established.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of goods have been

fransferred to the buyer.

Income from fraining service is recognised over the period of

fraining.

Interest income is recognised on a fime proportion basis,
taking info account the principal amounts outstanding and

the interest rates applicable.

Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are sfated af cost less aggregate depreciation
and impairment losses. The cost of an asset comprises ifs
purchase price and any directly affributable costs of bringing
the asset fo ifs present working condition and location for ifs
infended use. Expenditure incurred affer the assets have been
put info operation, such as repairs and mainfenance, is
charged to the income stafement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expendifure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
the asset, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional

cost of the asset.

BE—F

FRF=A=+—HIFE

2. FEEHBE (B)

(e)

(f)

WA TR

DA BT Linux B
Ko B A E m P AS U AR U R SR IR
Z VERNWESL P HERR,

ZEAERE
TR o

SYAEERE

EIARFS TS AR

27
B

BlEGI Sk

RS T8 R L I 3D 3
R84 4 8 R U B S R

27
B

BEEERTE

[BEIE & B Ty AT 8 KRR
BB - EERABREERE
KB EEBCRITEFN LI,
TERE ARG 2 EMEEEIEK
Ko BERNBIFRESEZ X H
ISR E BN E A HIR B e
KIG  WETRBERERREH
XHEBERZEERRES
B A FTIE N - AIE R
BT ER  (ERZEEZ RS
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(g)

Fixed assets and depreciation (continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of the fixed assets representing
the difference befween the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amounts of the relevant assets is recognised in the income

statement.

Depreciation is calculated to write down the costs of fixed
assets fo their estimated residual values on a straight line
basis over the following estimated useful lives: —

Computer equipment = 3 years
Office equipment - 3 years to 7 years
Furniture and fixiures = 5 years fo 7 years
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an enferprise over which the Company has
control either directly or indirectly. Confrol is the power fo

govern the financial and operating policies of a company so

as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any impairment losses. Income
from subsidiaries is recognised in the Company’s financial
statements on the basis of dividends declared by the

subsidiaries.

- FFAF=A=1— AR

2. FEEHBE (B)

(f)
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(h)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged fo the income statement as

incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capifalised and deferred only when the projects are clearly
defined; the expenditure is separately identifiable and can
be measured reliably; there is reasonable certainty that the
projects are technically feasible; and the products have
commercial value. Product development expenditure which

does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the
expected economic useful lives of the products, subject to a
maximum period of five years commencing in the year when

the products are put info commercial production.

= FFAF= A=+ AR

2. FEEHBE (B)

(h)

Wi R BB A
PRE IR AN E A B fE ik
PHIRR -

FAESHTE mIA B EA 2R
B - ZRIRBRDBMIRE - X
HAMERIEAL A A E - AT
IEHETE TR B AR LRI AT RE M
BERXBERHIVELETE - T
16 LaRE 7 EmFAERS RN
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at

each balance sheet datfe to idenfify indications that the

following assets may be impaired:—

fixed assets;
investments in subsidiaries;
goodwill: and

product development costs.

If any such indication exists, the assef's recoverable amount

is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the

carrying amount of an asset or ifs cash-generating unit exceeds

its recoverable amount.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessmenfs of time value of
money and the risks specific fo the asset. Where there
are assefs that do not generate cash flows largely
independent of those from other assefs, recoverable
amounts are determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-

generating unit).
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of assets (continued)

il Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used fo defermine the recoverable amount.
Impairment loss in respect of goodwill is reversed only
if the loss was caused by a specific external event of
an exceptional nature that is not expected fo recur,
and the increase in recoverable amount relates clearly

fo the reversal of the effect of that specific event.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited fo the carrying
amount of the asset that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the
income stafement in the year where the reversals are
recognised, except where the assets are carried af
revalued amounts, in which case the reversal of

impairment loss is freafed as a revaluation movement.

Inventories

Inventories are sfated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories fo their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated cosfs necessary

to make the sale.
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A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(k)

)

Leases

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the ferms of
the leases fransfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership fo the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight line basis over the terms of

the relevant leases.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, annual leave entitlements and the
cost to the Group of non-monetfary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered by

employees of the Group.

Obligations for contributions fo refirement plans, including
contributions payable under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC"| central pension scheme, are recognised

as an expense in the income sfafement as incurred.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without

realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(1

(m)

(n)

Employee benefits (continued)

When the Group grants employees options to acquire shares
of the Company for nil consideration, no employee benefit
cost or obligation is recognised at the date of grant. VWhen
the options are exercised, equity is increased by the amount

of the proceeds received.

Convertible notes

Convertible nofes are separately disclosed and regarded as
liabilities unless conversion actually occurs. The associated
finance cost is recognised in the income statement on an
accrual basis while the associated costs of issue are charged

immediately fo the income sfafement when it is incurred.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheef when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of o
past event, and it is probable that an oufflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rafe that reflects current
market assessments of the fime value of money and, where

appropriate, the risks specific o the liability.
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A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(o)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future event not wholly within the confrol of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of

obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is nof recognised but is disclosed in the
notes fo the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,

they will then be recognised as a provision.
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(p)

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency fransactions during the year are franslated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
fransaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the market exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. Differences on foreign currency translation are dealt

with in the income statement.

The consolidated financial statfements are prepared by using
the net investment method such that the balance sheets of the
Company’s overseas subsidiaries are franslated in Hong Kong
dollars at the market exchange rate ruling at the balance
sheet date, while their income statements are translated at
the average exchange rate for the year. Any exchange
differences arising on such translation are dealt with in the

exchonge reserve.
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(q)

Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
income sfafement because it excludes items of income and
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it

further excludes income statement items that are never taxable

and deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected fo be payable or recoverable
on differences between the carrying amounts of assefs and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
fax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred fax assefs are recognised
fo the exfent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative
goodwill] or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(q)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assefs is reviewed at
each balance sheef date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available fo allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred fax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is setiled or the asset
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates fo items charged or credited
directly fo equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt

with in equity.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
fo be related if they are subject to common confrol or common

significant influence.

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and

which are subject o an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(H

Recently issued accounting standards

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“new HKFRSs") which are effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January,

2005.

The Group has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in these
financial statements. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is nof yet
in a position fo sfafe whether these new HKFRSs would have
a significant impact on its results of operations and financial

position.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats:

[i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by business segment;

and (i) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical

segment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (confinued)

The Group's operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according fo the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group's business
segments represents a strafegic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject fo risks and retumns that are different
from those of other business segments. Summary details of the

business segments are as follows: —

[a)  the software development segment engages in development

and sales of Linux based software and hardware products;

(b)  the computer products segment engages in B2B e-commerce

in respect of frading of computer products; and

[c) the training service segment engages in the provision of

fraining services on Linux based software.

In defermining the Group's geographical segments, revenues are
attributed to the segments based on the location of the customers,
and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of

the assets.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (confinued)

(a)

Business segments
The following tables present revenue, loss and certain assets,
liabilities and capital expenditure information for the Group's

business segments:—

Segment revenue: —
Sales fo

external customers
Segment results
Inferest income
Unallocated income

Unallocated expenses

Loss from operations

Finance costs

Loss before fax

Tax

loss after tax

Minority inferests

loss afiributable to

shareholders

DERMA -
HET
NREP
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RAEHA
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3. SEER (&)
(o) R¥EDSE
TREFIANEBIREBE D 2
A BEMETEE  BERE

AEZER
Software Computer Training
development products services Consolidated
LA EHER RIS L]

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
Z22IF “TIMF "SPLF _TTINF “8PIF _TINF “PPLF _TINF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FEx  TEr TEm  TEr TEm  TEr  TERT  TiEn

4376 18323 8,483 15052 5474 4040 18,333 37415

(5357) (3047 (7,167) (5400 (1,914) (4200 (14,438) [(12,647)
5 2
429 74

(2,323) (1352

(16,327) (13,253)

(326)  (100)
(16,653) [13,353)
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Notes to Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (confinued)

(a)

Business segments (continued)

Segment assefs

Unallocated assets

Total assefs

Segment liobilifies

Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information: —
Depreciation

Amorisation

Capital expenditure

NREE
ROREE
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AERE
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3. SEER (&)
(a)

AEFE=A=+—HILFF

E¥o® (B)

Software Computer Training
development products services Unallocated Consolidated
BRERR ERER IR *AE L]

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
CBPIF CTIME CPPIF _TIMF CPPIF “TTNF _PPLF —TINF "PPIF —TIMF
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FEr TEr TExT TEr TET TEr TET TEr TET  TEn
53,357 38907 1,726 5632 3,104 2,706 - - 58,187 47,245
- = - = - - 1677 1227 1,677 1,227
53,357 38907 1,726 56032 3,104 2706 1,677 1227 59,864 48,472
24,267 17,666 5,407 20648 1,617 578 - - 31,291 20,892
- = - = - - 13,349 2,151 13,349 2,151
24,267 17,666 5,407 2648 1,617 578 13,349 2,151 44,640 23,043
129 113 134 110 150 296 43 58 456 577
1,210 762 - 146 96 35 - - 1,306 943
1,762 1,520

9,726 3,964 674 290 567 572 - - 10,967 4,826

Annual Report 2004 /05 &%

71




Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

72

Notes to Financial Statements pE EL

For the year ended 31st March, 2005 (R EERF=A=+—HIFF
3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 3. SWRHE (&
(b)  Geographical segments (b) i EE
The following table presents revenue, assefs and capital TRESARE BRI E 5 2 W
expenditure information for the Group’s geographical A BERERFEXER :
segments:—
Hong Kong Taiwan PRC USA Vietnam Others Consolidated
FiE Lt ] HE XE i RIHE &8

Segment revenue: -
ARRA
Sales fo extercl

customers

HEFHRER

Other segment information: ~
RHARER
Segment assefs

HRAE

Capial expenditure

BARX

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
“#BEE T30 TPPEE “TI0F SPEEE “T90% TEERE “9I0F “BEE 930 TOREE “TINF COEEE 3N

HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Féx TEr TET TEr TT  TEr Tém  TEr TEn  TEr TET  TEr  TET  Tin

834 1183 4451 18334 4783 3191 2627 5180 1,568 665 4070 8862 18333 37415

45763 40115 4,694 4907 7731 2319 - = - - 1,676 1131 59864 48472

5208 3892 1,398 849 4,361 85 - = - = - - 10967 482




Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

4. TURNOVER AND REVENUE

Turnover represents the invoiced value of computer products sold
and Group’s Linux based software and hardware products

distributed and training income, after allowances for returns and

discounts and net of value-added tax.

An analysis of turnover and other revenue is set out below: —

Turnover:—
Distribution of Group's Linux
based software
and hardware products
Sales of computer products

Training income

Other revenue:—
Interest income

Sundry income

ES R

Linux B M AR E T
HESME M
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Linux BX{F SRR 1 EE am SR 3E )l A 2
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2005 2004
—ETRE —EFTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

4,376 18,323

8,483 15,052

5,474 4,040

18,333 37,415
5 2

429 744
434 746
18,767 38,161
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

5. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):—

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of services rendered

Depreciation

Less: Amounts capitalised as product
development costs

Amortisation of product development costs
Minimum operating lease payments: —

Lland and buildings

Servers

Less: Amounts capifalised as product
development costs

Auditors’ remuneration

Staff costs (excluding directors’
emoluments): —
Salaries and other benefits
Pension confributions

Less: Amounfs capifalised as product
development costs

Interest on convertible notes
Provision for doubtful debts
Bad debts written off

Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Net exchange loss
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Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 6. EERESHS ﬁ
2005 2004 3
—®®EFE -—TINE s
S
HKS$’000 HK$'000 (2
o
F#&iT FEIT §
(a) Directors () ZE= g
Executive directors:— HITESE ¢ <
Fees we - =
Other emoluments E e
Salaries and other benefits Fre REAMEA 1,622 1,622
Pension confributions RIREHR 12 12
1,634 1,634
Independent non-executive directors: — B IEHITES -
Fees we 150 120
Total directors’ emoluments ) S 1,784 1,754

During the year, one [2004: one) of the executive directors
did nof receive any emoluments. The other two (2004: two)
executive directors received emoluments of approximately
HK$1,127,000 (2004: HK$1,127,000), and
HK$507,000 (2004: HK$507,000) respectively. The
independent non-executive direcfor resigned in 2004
received emoluments of HK$45,000 in the previous year.
The newly appointed independent non-executive director
received emoluments of HK$30,000. The other two (2004
two) independent non-executive directors received emoluments
of HK$60,000 (2004: HK$60,000) and HK$60,000
(2004: HK$15,000) respectively.

FR - —HA(ZEZWF : —%8)
WITESWENEERNE - 5
SRR (ZZETMF - WE) M
TEED2HNEREHE O
1,127,000 &7 (ZETWF :
1,127,000 7T) & 507,000
7T (ZZEZWF : 507,000 %
TT) c RIETMEREZHAT
EX FREWEEE 45,0008
TC o MEREZBIIFMITESRI
HU#i< 30,000 /7T - Htb M+
(ZZZTWEF - WE)BILIERT
B8 R WEE £ 60,000
7T (ZZZM4F : 60,000%7T)
K% 60,000 BT (ZETMEF :
15,00087T) o

75




Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

76

Notes to Financial Statements pE EL

For the year ended 31st March, 2005 BE—_TERF=A=+—HIFEF

6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [(confinved) 6. EER{EBME (&)

(a) Directors (continued) () E= (4&)
The emoluments of the directors were within the following EEMENTUATEHE :
bands: -

Number of directors

EEAH
2005 2004
—ETHEF —ETF
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 1,000,000 7T 5 5
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 &=
1,500,000 /& 7T 1 ]
(b)  Five highest paid employees b) EEERSHEES
During the year, the five highest paid employees included FA - BERSHESRERS
two (2004: two) executive directors of the Company, defails ZETF - WE) ARAE
of whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of 1TEE - HMeFBEN EX -
the remaining three (2004: three) highest paid employees Etp=% (Z2ZWF : =R)
were as follows: — =EEEEZMESMT
2005 2004
—ZEZTHEF —FTF
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF 890 747
Pension contributions RNE R 35 30
925 777
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6.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (confinued)
(b)  Five highest paid employees (continued)
The emoluments of the employees were within the following

band: —

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid employees, including directors of the Company, as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

PENSION SCHEME
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident

Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of those
employees who are eligible to participate in the scheme. The MPF
Scheme has operated since 1st December, 2000. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged fo the income sfatement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of MPF Scheme. The assefs of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
confributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into

the MPF Scheme.

HE—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

6.

=% 1,000,000 7T

EXRERME (&)
b) HEREHFEE (&)
BEME N FIATEHE :

Number of employees

EEAH
2005 2004
—ETRE —EFTEF
3 3

AEETEALERSHER
(BREARRESR) XMEM[E
RBEINASIAREE 2 226
BRI E B

H=3 3 iy U
AREBRIFRBIERTE S5 B &D -
REMBEAERSEABZEERM
ERERFIE AR RAENEE (758
BEatEll) - wEEFEa—TET
FH-A—RBEN - AEERES
EAXRFEADLELRHK  RARE
spiE et R AER HR R Rk ER
WHORR - BB E 2 EEFNIBL
EEES  BAKEEENHRA
AEBE BB ST EEL 2 BEHR
2HREEME -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

7.

PENSION SCHEME (continued)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries
are required fo confribute a percentage of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The cenfral pension scheme is responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees
and the Group has no further obligations for the pension payments

on postrefirement benefits beyond the annual confributions.

During the year, the Group made pension contributions of

HK$ 1,024,000 (2004: HK$489,000).

- FFAF=A=1— AR

7.

Bk &td (&)
RAEBEEEZRNRAMNBATZEE
ASEME T RTEE 2P REK
T3 c RETEMBARARS S
B LRRRERAREEEIEL R -
hRERASFT AN ZRBERKE
BZARRKE - AEEBANEFE
WHIAINZ RKE BN A E -

FR AEEFHRKRKESHR
1,024,000 Bt (ZZTWF :
489,000 &7T) -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

8.

TAX

(a)

HE—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

8. Bm

Tax charge represents provision for profits fax in respect of (o)  TRIAXHETEAEFE 2 MEH

previous years as detailed below: —

Tax expense for the year can

be reconciled as follows: —

Loss before tax

Tax effect at Hong Kong profits tax rate of

17.5% (2004: 17.5%)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses/tax
exempt revenue

Tax effect of unrecognised general
provision for doubtful debts

Tax effect of unrecognised
fax losses

Tax effect of utilisation of
unrecognised tax losses

Tax effect of unrecognised decelerated/
(accelerated) tax allowances

Under-provision for deferred tax
in previous year

Under-provision for current tax in

respect of previous years (Nofe)

Tax expense

B ST

2005 2004
“ETRF TP
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FEIT
AREZHIE
SHERAT ¢
R RIS (16,653) (13,353)
®17.5% (2T :
17.5%) 2 &BFEH
BEFEZHBE (2,914) (2,337)
LRI
REWAZ TS & 986 692
PAERREIE—M
Rz Mg & 270 270
RERBRBERZ 1,194 1,599
Dy
AR ERTIBESIE
MG E (141) (223)
REERBER, (IR )
R B R 2 2 (1)
FEERLERHIE
TR 603 -
EFFERBHIELTRE
BiE () 6,172 -
THIEX 1 6,172 =
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8.

TAX (continued)
(a) (continued)

Note: The under-provision of profits tax of HK$6,172,000 arises

because the Inland Revenue Department (“IRD") disallowed
the offshore claim in connection with the distribution of Linux
based software products by the Company’s subsidiary,
Thizlinux Laboratory Limited {“TLL").

TLL was requested by the IRD to purchase tax reserve
certificates (“TRC") amounted to HK$6, 172,000 which were
due in November of 2004. TLL failed to purchase TRC on
time and thus the IRD issued writ of summons against TLL in
the District Court of Hong Kong for claiming the aforesaid
profits tax payable of HK$6,172,000 and surcharge of
HK$308,000.

Whilst the directors are of the view that TLL has sufficient
grounds and concrete evidence to substantiate the
aforementioned offshore claim and infend fo appeal to the
Commissioner of IRD against the assessment, they consider it
prudent to provide for profits tax and surcharge demanded

by the IRD.

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

8. MR (&)

(a) (%)

i -

6,172,000/ 7T 2 M52 T B 5
BHERBRIRHARAMEA
AR RGRHET AR AR ([BNE
Z#El) A linux MEERIEL
BB U AT R RS ©

B RBRERBREREE SR
6,172,000 TR —ETMEF+
— ARz @ERs ((REBiE]) -
B RN I B D
it - B EERE B AR
B SR - ARE Lt R~ R
58 6,172,000 B KM e
308,000 /7T °

BEEERRIRRAGAFRNE
BEREERBAE DR
FIMERRE © WA BRI AR
RRE L - EREFRBRENS
BFrESRZ NS MM R T EE
B8 -
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8. TAX (continued) 8. WMIE\ (&)
(b)  The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as
follows: — BT -
Unutilised Product
tax development
losses costs
*DRARTEER EXREESF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Credit/(charge) for the year and XEER
at 31.3.2005 R-STLF
=B=1+—H
ZER/ (XH) 2,449 (2,449)

The components of unrecognised deductible/(taxable)

temporary differences are as follows: —

Deductible temporary differences AMREREER
(Note (i) (Ktat (i)
Unutilised tax losses REVABIEE B
Decelerated tax allowances R E TR

General provision for doubtful debs RER—MREE

Taxable temporary differences ERTERIEER
(Nofe {ii)) (K (i)
Accelerated tax allowances hnaR e Fi KR

HE—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

BREBRIBEE (BE) ZHEK

Total
gt
HK$'000
FAT

RHERAINB, (FERD) B

MEEMT
2005 2004
k- 2% 7§ —EFTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#T FHEIT
41,227 35,208
57 43
6,738 5,193
48,022 40,444
(90) (@0)
47,932 40,354
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8.

10.

TAX (continued)
(b) (continued)

Notes:

(i

(if)

LOSS ATT

Deductible temporary differences have not been recognised
in these financial statements owing to the absence of objective
evidence in respect of the availability of sufficient taxable
profits that are expected to arise fo offset against the deductible

temporary differences.

The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the PRC and Taiwan
subsidiaries amounted to HK$21,871,000 (2004:
HK$17,493,000) would expire in five years from the
respective year of loss. The unutilised fax losses accumulated
in the Hong Kong subsidiaries amounted to HK$ 19,356,000
(2004: HK$17,715,000) can be carried forward indefinitely.
At 31st March, 2005, tax losses aggregated to
HK$10,536,000 (2004: Nil) has been recognised as

deferred tax assets.

Taxable temporary differences have not been recognised in

these financial statements owing to immateriality.

RIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Of the Group's loss attributable to shareholders, a loss of

HK$24, 44

1,000 (2004: HK$10,936,000) has been dealt with

in the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

No dividen

d has been paid or declared by the Company during

the year (2004: Nil).

- FFAF=A=1— AR

8. W=\ (&)
(b) (4%)
HisE

(i)

(ii)

HRNRZ BEVERIAZ BTN
A Z FERRT i M) R AR SH A]
B2 B IEER - ML
REATSIRER ARER A HIB E
MHER -

FERAEHBARIREZA
E)RIARIE 21,871,000
T (ZE2EZE WM F
17,493,000 #70) #REE8
ZEREERIENER - &
BB AR REZ RS ATE
&518 19,356,000 %7 (=%
ZPU4E : 17,715,000 %7T)
BT EBREAAEEE - W ET R
FZA-+—AMBEEESH
10,536,000 %7 (ZZFZMY
F: |) BERARELERIEE
= o

BN ERRE R ERT A E
R B IR B TRk AR
FULEA -

9. BEEEBIR
ERFEEMERNEEEIES
24,441,000 #%x (ZZEWE
10,936,000 7T) B RN AR BB 5
HRRANERE -

10. &R

ARABRAARNFE R EIRERE IR
S (ZZTTPU4F : £) o
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LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 3 1st
March, 2005 is based on the loss atiributable to shareholders of
HK$22,595,000 (2004: HK$13,353,000) and the weighted
average of 2,317,166,757 (2004: 1,817,681,993) ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

No diluted loss per share is presented as the outstanding share

options and convertible notes were anfi-dilutive.

= FFAF= A=+ AR

11. BEEGR

RBE_ZZRF=A=+—HIF
B - BREAEEIIZRREGER
22,595,000 T (Z2FMWF
13,353,000 7T) RFABETER
BON#EFIGRREN 2,317,166,757 IR
—ZTTWF - 1,817,681,993&) 5

im

o

AR T 6 8 A N RIS AR SR A8 0P
BEXE MATEZINERETES

B e
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12. FIXED ASSETS

(i) The Group (i)

Cost: —
At 1.4.2004

Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

Additions

Disposals

At 31.3.2005

Aggregate depreciation: —

At 1.4.2004

Charge for the year

Written back on disposals

At 31.3.2005

Net book value: —

At 31.3.2005

84
At 31.3.2004

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

12. BEEE
Furniture
Computer Office and
equipment equipment fixtures Total
MAE RER
ERE e B KE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET T FET
REH
D%
R_ZTTEE
MA—H 1,283 1,213 449 2,945
NE 281 640 687 1,608
HE = (63) (227) (290)
R-SSREF
=RA=+—H 1,564 1,790 909 4,263
REHE -
R-_ZTZTWE
MA—H 769 312 251 1,332
RNEFHE 396 284 156 836
HERm - (5) (23) (98)
RIESHE
=A=+—H 1,165 591 314 2,070
FREDHE
R_BBREF
=A=+—H 399 1,199 595 2,193
R=ZENE
=A=+—8H 514 Q01 198 1,613
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12. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(i)  The Company

Cost: —

At 1.4.2004

Disposals

At 31.3.2005

Aggregate depreciation: —
At 1.4.2004

Charge for the year

Written back on disposals

At 31.3.2005

Net book value: —

At 31st March, 2005

At 31st March, 2004

RE—FERE=A=+—HILFE

12. BIERE (&)

Furniture
Computer Office and
equipment equipment fixtures Total
Moo= RER
L4 B £ RE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET & T FET
i) AAR]
(DN
R-ZTTNEF
MA—H 135 13 57 205
HE - - (57) (57)
R-ESAEF
SesusEl 15 13 SR 148
ZEHE -
ek
MA—H Q6 Q 18 123
RNEFHE 36 3 3 42
HERE - - (21) (21)
R-SSHEF
=ZA=+-H 132 12 - 144
BREVFME ¢
R-EBSHEF
=HA=+—H 3 1 - 4
R_TEWEF
=ER=a—E 39 4 39 82

Annual Report 2004 /05 &%

85




Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

86

Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

13.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Provision for impairment losses

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are interestfree, unsecured

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

13. FEMBARZES

2005 2004

—EThE —TENE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TF#ET FET

JEEMRRG « AR 21 21
FEUH BB A RIZUE 63,097 48,284
FEAST Y B8 2 R IE (24) (3)
63,094 48,302

IR (31,800) (9,600
31,294 38,702

FEW R B ARRIADRS « &

ER RSB EERS -
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (confinued)

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows: —

Name

-1

Thiz Technology Group

Holdings Limited

THIZLINUX INC.

THIZBIZ INC.

Thiz.Com Inc.

Thiz.Com (Hong Kong] Limited

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations
R,

EE B B S B

British Virgin Islands
RBRAES

British Virgin Islands
By hegid

British Virgin Islands
KBRAEE

British Virgin Islands
KERXHS

Hong Kong
B

HE—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

13. FRiEMBLATRIZEE (&)
MBARZFBEMT :

Nominal
value of issued

ordinary shares/  Percentage of

registered equity attributable

capital to the Company

BRTHER F0F

EMEFmE BiEEREES LT
Directly Indirectly

EBiE &

uSb100 100 =

100 %7

USD1 = 100

=

USD1 = 100

17T

uSb200,000 = 100

200,000 £t

HK$10,000 = 100

10,000 &7t

Principal activities

EBRRE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REEKR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERER

Invesiment holding
and provision
of management
services

REERR AR
BIRIRT
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (confinued)

&1

PC Media, Inc.

Thiz Design Group Limited

Thizlinux Laboratory Limited

s R R AR A R

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations
HEfMSL,

EE B B S B

United States of
America

e
Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
B

- FFAF=A=1— AR

13. FiLIBARZEE (&)
Nominal
value of issued

ordinary shares/  Percentage of

registered equity attributable
capital to the Company Principal activities
BRTEER F0F
HEMEXEE BlERES S FERH
Directly Indirectly
=f:4 &
UsD50,000 = 100 Dormant
Common stock TEER
50,000 7T E
HK$10,000 = 100 Provision of
10,000 /7T management services
ROE TR IR
HK$10,000 - 100 Development and
10,000 7T sales of Linux

based software

products and

provision of related

fraining services
FEREE

Linux B2 @ &

REARIEIR
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (confinued)

&

Thizbiz Global Trade Limited
BB SRABR DA

Thiz Electronics Company Limited
BN FRHB R A E

The Investment Exchange Limited

KRERXZMBRAR

The Recruitment Database Limited

BRI ERAA

Thiz.Com (China] Limited

Institute of Thiz Technology Limited
BRI 2B B R A

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations
EM S,

REM R St B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
Bt

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
EiE

British Virgin Islands
RERLES

Hong Kong
B

HE—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

13. FRiEMBLATRIZEE (&)

Nominal
value of issued

ordinary shares/  Percentage of

Annual Report 2004 /05 &%

registered equity attributable
capital to the Company Principal activities
BRTEER 3/
EMEAmE BEEREES T FERH
Directly Indirectly
EBiE &
HK$10,000 - 100 Development, sales
10,000 7T and distribution
of Linux based
software
and hardware
products
R - HERDH
Linux B 14 2
HK$10,000 = 100 Dormant
10,0007&7T HEX
HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
10,0007&7T EEXY
HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
10,000 7T UREY
USDI1 = 100 Dormant
137 HEX
HK$100,000 = 100 Provision of training
100,000 /&7t services on
Linux based 89
software
Rt Linux B2

1B AR S
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (confinued)

&1

B v TSl

BRAFRZEDRF

Beijing Thizlinux Software
Co, limited

A BIES A2 7e A
HHAERAT

Thizlinux Software (Shenzhen)
Company Limited
AerEs (ORI BRAR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations
HEfMSL,

EE B B S B

Taiwan

A&

PRC
i

PRC
ik

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

13. FRiEMBLATRIZEE (&)

.
Nominal

value of issued

ordinary shares/

Percentage of

registered equity attributable
capital to the Company Principal activities
BRTEER F0F
HEMEXEE BlERES S FREH
Directly Indirectly
=f:4 &
NT$1,700,000 - 100 Development of
1,700,000 i &k Linux based
software products
and sales of
computer and
Linux based
products
% linux B E m &R
HEBKR
Linux EE R
UsD250,000 = 100 Development of Linux
250,000 %7 based software
products
% linx M ER
USD250,000 - 100 Sales of Linux based
250,000 &7T software and

hardware product
and provision of
fraining services on
Linux based
software

HE linx B ERR
R Linux 8t 2
AR
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (confinued)

Name

10

Beijing Thiz Junye Software Co, Lid.
EREEEERHERAR

Dalian Thizlinux Technology Insfitute

Co., Limited

REEHRRAEES

RAEFI SR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations
B,
EYEE 3L

PRC
3

PRC

i

PRC
3

HE—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

13. FRiEMBLATRIZEE (&)

Nominal
value of issued

ordinary shares/

Percentage of

registered equity attributable
capital to the Company
BRTHER F4%
HEMEFEE EEREEAL
Directly  Indirectly
BE %
USD150,000 = 100
150,000 %7t
RMB1,000,000 = 60
AR 1,000,000 7
RMB200,000 = 60
ARH 200,000 7

Principal activities

Annual Report 2004 /05 &%

EERE

Development of Linux
based software
products and
provision of raining
services on linux
based software

% linx B ERR
R Linux B2
NIRRT

Development and sales
of Linux based
software products

B & S E Linux
L Em

Provision of fraining
services on Linux
based software

R linux B2

1| AR S
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14.

15.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Cost: —
At 1.4.2004
Additions

At 31.3.2005

Aggregate amortisation: —
At 1.4.2004
Charge for the year

At 31.3.2005

Net book value: —

At 31.3.2005

At 31.3.2004

GOODWILL

Cost: —
At 1.4.2004 and 31.3.2005

Aggregate impairment: —
At 1.4.2004 and 31.3.2005

Net book value: —

At 31.3.2004 and 31.3.2005

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

14. ERRARRE

A
R-ZZFPH—H
i
HW-_EERF=A=1+—H

RETEEH ¢
RZZEZNFIPA—AH
AR S5
W_EETRAF=A=+—H

AREDFE ¢
R-ZBBEF=A=+—H

K=FEMF=A=+—A

15. @&

PR
R-SZENFMA—HR
“EER¥=A=+—H

IR -
R-SENFMA—HR
“SER¥=A=+—H

AREDFE ¢

R-ZZENF=A=+—HR

—EZAF=RA=+—H

HK$'000
TETT

HK$'000
&7

686

(686)
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16. INVENTORIES

Linux based software products package
Phone cards and product package
Software training manuals and materials

Computer hardwares and accessories

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group's frading terms with its customers are mainly on a cash-
ondelivery basis, except for major customers, where an average

credit period of 30 days is normally given.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of

provision) at the balance sheet date: —

0 - 30 days

- 60 days
61 - 90 days
Q@1 - 180 days
181 — 360 days

Over 360 days

BE_FTERF=A=1—HILFE

16. #&
2005 2004
“®BEE -~ TIMNE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRIT FHAT
linux S EER IS 2,436 645
TR RRERER 10 -
REESE A R 30 -
TR R 53 -
2,529 645
17. BRI
AEBRES 2 X B HREEBEE
(3 - EEESAI—#44 T FH308
21

REHE B Z AR CNEREE) 2Bk

RO
2005 2004
—EEhEF —EEPUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
0Z30R 144 86
31 2608 24 57
61 90 H 11 =
91 = 180 H 21 103
181 & 360 H 19 10,194
360 BLA E 33,102 24,452
33,321 34,892
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in the above trade receivables is HK$32,955,000 due
from Prewell International Limited (“Prewell”) which exceeded 8%
of the market capitalisation of the Company as af 31st March,

2005.

The above-mentioned trade receivable represents arrears in fee
from distribution of the Group's Linux based software products due
from Prewell to a subsidiary of the Company, Thizlinux Laboratory
Limited (“TLL"), under a software distribution agreement dated 1st
February, 2002 entered into between TLL, Prewell and Elitgroup
Computer Systems. The amount represents a net amount of the
aggregate trade receivable in the sum of HK$50.7 million less a
35% provision for doubtful debts. In the opinion of the directors,
the provision of approximately HK$17.7 million is adequate
following the favourable outcome of the legal action against TLL as

detailed in note 29(a) to the financial statements.

The direcfors confirm that the above fransaction was entered in the
ordinary course of business and on normal commercial ferms. A
credit ferm of 30 days was given and the amount was inferest free,
unsecured and repayable on demand. Prewell is an independent
enfity not connected with any direcfors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or management shareholders of the Company and its
subsidiaries and any of their respective associates, as defined under

the GEM Listing Rules.

BE_FTERF=A=1—HILFE

17. BEI&HEE (%)

MEWRIARIEE K Prewell
International Limited ([Prewell]) 23k
18 32,955,000 BT * ZEFERR
RARARR_ZETRAE=A=+—HBm
B2 8% °

bt el BRIAFE AR IR BN R AT RMER A
~A) ([ENEEZRA]) ~ Prewell &
E|itgroup Computer SystemsiR —EZE —
F_RA—BRIMZ2E KD -
Prewell # R A8 A &) 2 Bt & 2~ &) B %
FURE D HARE Lnux X ERER
ZRF - ZBRAREWREZR
50,700,000 #BTTR 35% R AR &
2R BEERR  BENRRL
2 ERFRTHENEE 2 &R
& (FRPBI|MKRME 29(a)) &
17,700,000 BTt 2 B IERE 247 o

BEE®R - LR SRR -REERK
FRBEEEBREL - Wi TI0B 2
EEH  MEMIFIEDRS - EiEH
REILRERER © Prewell| RBIE
e H B8R REAE
T FETHAR  FERR R
ERRERREZBZEMBEAL
(BEERAIZFR EHRA) HEpE

I]]]n}

/E} h\?
4>f
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

At 31st March, 2005, included in the Group's cash and bank

balances were amounts of approximately HK$315,000 (2004:
HK$804,000) denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”) and kept in the

PRC. RMB is not freely convertible info other currencies, however,

under Mainland China'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and

Administration of Setlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange

Regulations, the Group is permitted fo exchange RMB for other

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange

business.

19. TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of frade payables af the balance

sheet date: —

0 - 30 days

31 =60 days
61 - 90 days
Q@1 - 180 days
181 - 360 days

Over 360 days

O0&30H

31 £260H
61 £290H
91 & 180 H
181 £ 360 H
i 360 A

= FFAF= A=+ AR

18.

BeRBRITRT
RZZZRAF=A=+—H x5E
2B RRITHEFTHI315000/87T
ZEZPYEF : 804,00087T) AAR
ETARED &S - XHFRRPE -
ARETTEdRABEMEE - R
m - ARIR B SNE B IR AR E R ABE
EERNEEEMRTE  ARERER
ERBEETINERE ZRITHBAR

EREMEE -

19. EfIRIR
RIEHE B 2 BEIE 2 B 47
T
2005 2004
—SSEFE  —TINF
HKS$’000 HK$'000
TF#EiT FET
58 405
- 3
1,304 =
675 =
26 156
1 _
2,064 564
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20. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount is interestfree, unsecured and repayable on demand.

21. AMOUNT DUE TO A SPOUSE OF A DIRECTOR

The amount is interestree, unsecured and repayable on demand.

22. SHARE CAPITAL

Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

Authorised: — ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ BIREE 0.01 Brz LAk
At 1.4.2004 R-ZZWFMA—H

Increase during the year (Nofe (a)) FREm (Kita))

At 31.3.2005 RZBERF=A=+—H
Non-voting convertible BREMEO0.01 AL
preference shares of EREEAHRE

HK$0.01 each (the “Preference R (KizE(b))

Shares”| [Note (b))

Increase during the year and at FREMER_ZTREF
31.3.2005 (Note (a)) =A=+—8 ()

Total 1]

Issued and fully paid: - BEITRAR -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  &EE 0.01 Lz L@MR

At 1.4.2004 R-ZZNFMNA—H

Rights issue of shares (Nofe (c)) =R (Afat(c))
96

At 31.3.2005 RZEEEF=A=+—H

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

20. EIEERR
BRARRLRE - BERRBZEL

1BIE o

21. B EFEA/RR
BRAFEDRE - BEARFIREKX

&g o
22. &

Number of shares HK$’000
BRiFEE F#xT
5,000,000,000 50,000
1,000,000,000 10,000
6,000,000,000 60,000
2,000,000,000 20,000
8,000,000,000 80,000
2,041,114,400 20,411
1,020,557,200 10,206
3,061,671,600 30,617
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

22. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b

Pursuant fo an ordinary resolution passed on 5th August, 2004, the
Company increased its authorised share capital to HK$80,000,000
by the creation of an additional 3,000,000,000 shares divided
into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and
2,000,000,000 Preference Shares of HK$0.01 each. The new
class of Preference Shares was created fo enable the Company fo
provide investment channel for prospective investors and strengthen

the capital base of the Group.

The Preference Shares are unlisted. Their rights, privileges and

restrictions are set out below:—

Dividends. The holders of Preference Shares shall be entitled fo
receive a fixed cumulative dividend at the rafe of 2% per annum at
its issue price. The holders of Preference Shares shall be entitled to
receive dividends prior fo and in preference fo the holders of ordinary

shares.

Ranking. Preference Shares shall rank in priority fo ordinary shares
as to refurn of capital on the basis of the nominal value of the
Preference Shares on winding-up of the Company. The ordinary
shares falling to be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the Preference Shares shall, when issued, rank pari

passu in all respects with the ordinary shares then in issue.

Voting Rights. Holders of Preference Shares shall not be enfifled
to aftend or vote at any general meetfing of the Company, save in
circumstances where a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of

the holders of Preference Shares or to wind up the Company.

Other Rights. Save for the 2% fixed cumulative dividend, holders
of Preference Shares shall not be entfifled fo profits of the Company,
rights issue, open offer, bonus issue or other distribution of the

Company.

Transferability. Preference Shares are not fransferable except
with the consent of the board of directors and subject to the

requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules”).

BE—F

FRF=A=+—HIFE

22. B&F (&)

et -

(al

(b)

BE—_ZTHFNRAEBBAZ
TRRER  ARAEEIMNER
3,000,000,000 i (95
1,000,000,000 iR &R EE 0.0 1 7
Jo2 EBR% & 2,000,000,000 &
ARE(E 0.01 AT 2 @B5R) Mmia
AaElZEERAE hNZE 80,000,000
;%TE i“”%ﬁiﬁﬁﬂgf‘ﬁﬂx—f%zﬁAT
A FRHEMIZERE - WA
TE;X$%IZHX$%’D’% o

BRI b o HAER -
AT

R MR

BB - BERSH AR RIEAZTT

Fiﬁ¢ R 2 B E 2 EIE RIEK
o BERAAGRREBESA

AE?&@?‘EH&E@ZH&E c

fif o AN EIER - BERKEE
KR EEEFREEA S EREER
B5E o ETEE AR FTHRAR M /A
FEITZ ERRNETE  SESH
HEEREETZEBREARASM

AL o

BRE - EERSAABREHEARR
AEABERAS NG LR E - HiR

SRZRMERETBIFTAN 2R

SRR BERZBERRIN

HAiEF o (R2EEE RERESN

Ff‘ﬁﬂ%—rﬁ/\ﬁ%’\‘: NGl
A - 2 NREMR - BITALR

AR ﬂfﬁ\’rﬁln K e

W - RESESSREIRRE
ERFESZEMARR (TBIZER MR
A1) ZRES - BEBRABEE -
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(c)

Right to Convert. From the date of the issue of the Preference
Shares and up fo a period of 3 years thereafter, if at any day the
average of the closing prices of the Ordinary Shares quoted on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) over
the preceding 30 consecutive dealings days is 200% or above of
the issue price of the Preference Shares, either the Company or the
holders of the Preference Shares may within 7 days by written nofice
to the other party request for conversion of the Preference Shares
info ordinary shares. If the conversion right is not exercised within
the 7-day period, such right will automatically lapse after the 7-day
period. Save for the aforesaid, the holders of Preference Shares
have no right to request the Company to convert the Preference

Shares into ordinary shares.

Without prejudice to the Company’s foregoing conversion right, after
the third anniversary of the issue date of the Preference Shares, the
Company shall be entitled (but not obliged) to convert the Preference
Shares into Ordinary Shares at any time by written notice fo the

holders of the Preference Shares.

The Company issued 1,020,557,200 new shares of HK$0.01
each in the Company at an issue price of HK$0.013 per share by
way of a rights issue in the proportion of one rights share for every
two existing shares held. The net proceeds of the rights issue of
approximately HK$12,471,000 (representing cash consideration
of HK$13,267,000 less share issue expenses of HK$796,000)
are used for the development of the Group's business in the PRC
and research and development of Linux related systems and fo provide
additional working capital to the Group. All shares issued rank pari

passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

Details of the rights issue of shares are set out in the Company's

prospectus dated 4th November, 2004.

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

22. B&F (&)

(c)

Bl - 5ECRETRMEER =
FHR - WMER— B ERREESE
BaRHmERAR (B2 #
H 2 1 30 EiEER 5 B 2 FH R
BEREBEARETE2200%A £
ARBHBIBFA AR ASEBAN
ST B AEKGE AR
REB - HEBRETENZ RN
1718 - SZIRRERHS B EDYERE o R it
BN - BEBIFTA ABEEE AR
Al B S AR S A

EABRRAR R ERE 2 B0
T REERETRR=BFE K
NEIEE (ELEEE) BERIAER
BABRERISAAZ T ABBERE

ARARIAGERR A R4 ETAX 0.013 %
JC2E17fE%%17 1,020,557,200 %
BREE0.01 B2k - LA
BFE MIRER B IR AR — AR AR
f&fn o EARESEIA 2 FTIS IR FHEA A
12,471,000 %&7m (AMBEE&RE
13,267,000 TR ) B 17R %
796,000%7T) + TIRRAEE 2+
Bl MR « Llinux HEA RS 2%
HFAZ - RARSEREEINSES
T o BEETZMARGIGEER 21
BRNDESHEZHA RSk

HRFRZFBRARRR_FTN
F+—AmB Bz HERBIE -
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23. EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”)
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6th July, 2001, for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible parficipants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Eligible
participants of the Old Scheme included any full-ime executive
director or employee of a company within the Group. The Old
Scheme should remain in force for 10 years from 6th July, 2001
during which the directors may make offer to grant share options to

eligible participants.

Pursuant to the terms of the Old Scheme as amended in accordance
with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the maximum number of
the Company's shares which can be granted under the Old Scheme
and any other schemes must not exceed 10% of the Company's
shares in issue at the date of approval and the maximum number of
the Company’s shares which can be granted to each participant
must not in any 12-month period exceed 1% of the Company's

shares in issue with effect from 1st October, 2001.

The consideration for the grant of an option is HK$1 each. An
opfion may be exercised at any time during a period as determined
by the directors which shall not be less than three years and not
more than fen years from the date of acceptance of options offered

under the Old Scheme by the grantee.

Pursuant fo ordinary resolutions passed on 5th August, 2004, the
Old Scheme was terminated with immediate effect provided that
options which have been granted and remain outstanding shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue
and the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “New

Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on the same date.

BE_FTERF=A=1—HILFE

23. BAEFMER

ARBRER-_FZT—FLANEAE

BORBREMNBRESE ([E5
g EtEEHERZTHAREEZE
B ERERNAER2EALIEY
REMEE - EfEZAaBER2EA
TEEAKEETAREAZBRNT
ESYER - BEftEIR—_TT—F+
ANBELER - BE+F  EFAR
ZHEHRAEERZEALIETER
1 o

RIBEFT SRR (RRREIER EH
MRS 23 B27]) - RIEBEEEIRE
Al A aT BRI 2 AR BRG B &
I EHEEANILERHARRIE#TT
B 10% - mRMER 1 218 A B AT %
TERSEALZARBBRNEE &
STSBBAATDETRMI% - I

/

BOHREZBREREBR/ BT M
BRETNESRETE 2 BHMERTT
% - MEZEABERARABENRIRE
FTEIRE 2B B BRRE - TR
=FMXPEBBETEF o

BEZZSZNFNAAABRB, L@
RER  EFTEIDREANR L - EER
R ARITE 2 BRI B ATIR
FLARBIZER ERRIE23F 2 HE
HHEER] T1TE - NATIERERA

iBORBRER N B RE R ([37
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23. EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (continued)

The purpose of this New Scheme is to motivate the eligible
participants for their contributions to the Company and help the
Company in refaining its existing employees and recruiting
additional employees and to provide them with a direct economic
inferest in attaining the long ferm business objectives of the Company.
Eligible parficipants of the New Scheme include any employee,
proposed employee (including any executive and non-executive
directors of the Company and ifs subsidiaries), adviser, consultant,
agent, confractor, customer and supplier of any member of the

Group.

The New Scheme shall remain in force for ten years from 5th August,
2004 during which the directors may make offer to grant share

options fo eligible participants.

The maximum number of shares available for issue under options
which may be granted under the New Scheme adopted by the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in
issue. The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted and fo be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up fo the date of grant must not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue at the date of grant. Any further grant of
opfions in excess of the above limit must be subject fo shareholders’
approval with such participant and his associates (as defined in

the GEM Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

- FFAF=A=1— AR

23. BAxwHMER (2)

FEtEE EnBAER2EERARD
BELER - WHBA R R EBIRE
BELBEHNEE  ARBRFRE
HEEEMNE  NWEBARTZRH
XBER - M ZABR2EER
BREFAAKEKERATZEE « £
8 (BRARARENBRR 2T
FOFMTESR) - @A BER R
BEA AER  BPRMRERS -

Fatdlm —ETOFN\ARREAA
Mt+F - BERARZBRPEREER
SEEFZREBRE -

RIBAR BRI EIR L 2B
ma TETZEMHESHE A%
TEBESBHITRMZ 10% - RIRH
B BRI 1 218 A BRRETEE R T
MR TER28E 2 BRE (81
BT REARTTERZERE) ML
RiEFHRTZBROERSHE - T5HE
BRHEBBRZEHETRMZ1% - E—
SR T DA R EABRE
WRRBRRALE - MZzB2EERE
BMEAL (EXRAERLETHRA) A

FLUL RIS ©
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005 BE—_TERF=A=+—HIFEF

Notes to Financial Statements

23. EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (confinued) 23. BREwwERN (&)

If options are granfed to a connected person (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) or his associates, the granting of such options
will be subject fo all independent non-executive directors” [excluding
independent non-executive director who is a grantee) approval;
where options are proposed to be granted fo a connected person
who is also a substantial shareholder or independent non-executive
director or any of their respective associafes which will result in the
fotal number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted or to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) fo such person under the New Scheme
in the past 12-month period up to and including the dafe of such
grant: (1) exceeding O.1% of the total issued shares for the time
being; and (2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000, the granting of such options will be subject to
approval of the independent shareholders of the Company taken
on a poll. All connected persons will abstain from voting (except

that any connected person may vofe against the resolution).

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$ 1 to the
Compoany as consideration for the grant. The option will be offered
for acceptance for a period of 5 days from the date on which the
opfion is granted. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors and shall not be more than fen
years from the date of grant and the direcfors may provide restrictions
on the exercise of the option during the period an option may be

exercised.

fAEEAL (EEALAIERLETH
A)) REBMBATRLBRE  ZF
BREZREAGTHEEIENTE
2 (TREFRARAZBIIFNT
BF) #ERAAHEE - ME2Em—
ERP/EERRIBIIFATEEH
RERBZMBEALZBEA LR
BhE MEBERRELEH (2
EER) B E12E8BEETE
FABTERTRERTZALZE
Pt (BIEEATE - EHREARITE
ZRERE) MERRETHET RN
BB (1 BEERDBEITRNDERH

1% RBREESRRL BN Z
Wi Bt EHAERSB 5 000,000%
7T RIZEEREZREAFAAT
B RIARZ T A ERTT A E

c FIEREALTERERE (FE

ST VTS 2] PE
5) .
BRI - REAAXN | BT

FARABMERZBER T ZRE - B
RANERLE AR OB ZAE
e FIREBREZTERHESRR

CETBBEE RN BYER
F o BEF A HERAER A TERE
ZITRIEHRR -
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23.

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (continued) 23.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the New Scheme shall be such price as the board
of directors at their absolute discretion shall defermine, save that
such price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotations
sheef on the date of the grant, which must be a trading day; [ii) the
average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; or (iii) the nominal

value of a share.
No options was granted under the New Scheme. Details of the
outstanding share opfions granted under the Old Scheme which

continue to be exercisable are as below: —

[) ~ Movemenfs in share opfions

BEFEER (=)

BRAFTA B TR H 2 AR E R A
ZEBRRBENHESSBUMBR
E o EZERTRERAT=EF2&
2E (INREAS (BARXSHE)
B An FEBSE S P B SR AT U AE - (i)
SREE A YA RER S AR Eik
P B R AR W E ¢ Sk Ak
DEE

W EAR R AT B D ETRBRE - R
BRE IR M ARITRLAER T1T

At beginning of year

Adjustment for rights issue of shares

At 31st March

Options vested at 31st March

F£50
LA IRE L 2 HE

R=R=+—H

R=A=t+—ARE
2 AR

EZ BB BT
() FERREZE
Number of options
MR E

2005 2004
—Z2aF —EENF
20,164,437 18,180,000
1,364,511 1,984,437
21,528,948 20,164,437
21,528,948 20,164,437




Notes to Financial Statements pE EL

For the year ended 3 1st March, 2005 (R ETRF=A=1—HILFE
23. EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (confinued) 23. RFEHMEET (&)
(i)  Terms of unexpired and unexercised share opfions af balance li) MREEREKREREERITEZ
sheet date =G A S
2005 2004
- 5 %:2 “TENE
Exercise Exercise
price Number price Number
Date of grant Exercise period per share  of options per share of options
A TERR BRITER  WEEBE BRIEE  BRERE
HK$ HKS
ETT BT
[Nofe a) [Note a)

(Kita) (Kita)

30th June, 2002 to
2%th June, 2012

“ZT-EXA=TH

21t November, 2001 E2E——F5A
“ZT-4%t-AZt-H —+thA 0.266 21,528,948
Note a:  The exercise price and outstanding member of options Kiata :

have been adjusted for the rights issue of the Company's

shares on 2 1st December, 2004.

0.284 20,164,437

1T B R HARTTEERESE B
ERARAR_ZZTMEFE =
Ao+ BZ#REHAELR

o
i)  No share option was granted during the year (2004: Nil). lii) FALERHERE (ZZZ
F:F) o
(iv)  No share option was lapsed during the year (2004: Nil). (iv] FRITEBIRERY (ZTTH
F:F) o
[v)]  No share option was exercised during the year (2004: Nil). v) FRLEBREETE (ZZZF

mE ) -
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23.

24,

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (confinued) 23. BREwwERN (&)

Each opfion gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share of
the Company. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or fo vote af shareholders’ meeting.

At 31st March, 2005, the exercise in full of the outstanding share
options granted under the Old Scheme will result in the issue of an
additional 21,528,948 shares of HK$0.01 each with
corresponding proceeds of approximately HK$5,727,000.

BNBERERTHEARMNRBEAR
Al—RRAD - BERETEE THEA
RAMERREINBERAGRE -

R-ZZZERF=A=1+—H8 ' HiEE
ATET B h 2 M AR T B R S A B
17 - #EBERINETT 21,528,048
REREEC.01BIT 2y - HHEMT
1S5RER#) 5,727,000 BT °

RESERVES 24. il

(i)  The Group
The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the Company
and the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant fo the reorganisation fo rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company'’s shares on GEM.

) #*&KE
BN S Sl RN )
HEEREFEARFRONEIZE
R ETIR B EARE AR EREE
FRKEEM B R RN EEL =
B o

(ii) The Company (i) Z&2F
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BFERE
BiniRR 11 RitBR it
HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FET
At 1.4.2003 RZET=FMA—H 17,658 84 (6,232 11,510
Rights issue of shares g E S 5,136 - - 5,136
Share issue expenses RIpEITHX (788 - - (788)
Loss for the year AEEER = - (10,93¢) (10,936)
At 31.3.2004 and RZBTME=A=+—H
1.4.2004 RZZZNEMA—H 22,006 84 [17,168) 4,922
Rights issue of shares HRERE 3,061 = = 3,061
Share issue expenses B BITHY (796) - - (7906)
Loss for the year AEEEE = - (24,441) (24,441)
At 31.3.2005 A—SSEE=AS+—0 24,271 84 (41,609  (17,254)
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24,

25.

26.

RESERVES (continued)

(i)  The Company (continued)
The Company had no disfributable reserves at 31st March,
2005. Under the Companies Law (Cap. 22 low 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company, provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividends is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business.

PROCEEDS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

The proceeds represent part of the subscription moneies received
in advance for the Preference Shares to be issued. Details of the

subscription are set out in note 32 fo the financial statements.

PROCEEDS OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES RECEIVED IN
ADVANCE

Upon completion of the issue of convertible notes on 6th May,
2004, the proceeds are reclassified as convertible notes. Details

are set out in note 27 below.

= FFAF= A=+ AR

24.

25.

26.

fEfm (&)

(i) &7 (&)
R-ZERE=A=1+—8 &
DRI AR IR o ARIRFD
SHEDANE (—AAR—FE3
SEGIE 22 B - KERARIE
1) RIERBEEZEHIRREH
Hite - RNARIRESEE B EES
HEIHI & - BRIRGEET
FOIRTARBIMREK °

TA My T 382 B 2 S AR B 18 BRI

AT SRIRETR R WA TRIT2E
FERLZ FREBRGR - RIE 2 FHBEN RS
MR PMEE 32 ©

TR RIEFR S R IR

R-ZZWFHANB TR ATREE
BRITIR - FISRIACEYIRFAK
& - HIFEN T XM 27 -
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27.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The convertible notes are unlisted and analysed as below:

- FFAF=A=1— AR

27. WIBRRIE
ARERBAIELT - 20T

Principal value Interest Conversion price Conversion period
X BE ¥ERE{E RiRH

[Note 1) [Note 2)

(HiaE 1) (Hia£ 2)
HK$4,000,000 2.5% per annum HK$0.034 per share 17th January, 2003
4,000,000 7T BE25B HH0.034 T fo 16th January, 2006
—EE=F—A+tAZE
—EEXF—R+NH
HK$ 10,000,000 2.5% per annum HK$0.034 per share 6th May, 2004
10,000,000 7T BF25E % 0.034 7T to 25th March, 2007
—EENFERASNBE
—EE+F=A"—+HH

Notes: Kz

(1) The interests are payable on maturity date or within 14 business (1) FEZERRIH B = H R g Z g%

(2)

(3)

days after conversion of the notes.

14 EEZBREH -

They have been adjusted for the rights issue of the Company’s shares (2) FHMBREEES-ZETMFE+_A=

on 21st December, 2004. The notes are convertible into new
ordinary shares of the Company at the said price in the amounts of

not less than HK$500,000 on each conversion.

T—BARRRRD 2 HRERE
B o R EREREBAARR

AIFTEE - SRR S MER
500,000 BT °

No early redemption by the Company or the noteholders is allowed (3)  REHABRF - AARKEERE AT
SREEM -

prior to the maturity date.
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28. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENT
As at 31st March, 2005, the Group and the Company had

28.

outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

in respect of land and buildings, which fall due as follows: —

Within one year
In the second to

fifth years inclusive

—4FR
B i

(BREEMSF)

= FFAF= A=+ AR

EEHRRH
R-ZZEZRF=A=+—H  ~5H
RARR L RET 2 T RAHEHE
EHOBRARBITAE  ZHEMN
T

Group Company
F5E ¥ 3/

2005 2004 2005 2004
—ZEThE —_TTNF ZTTRF _—_TTMNF
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000
TFHEIT T#ET FET TFET
1,991 2,135 - 332
3,190 2,575 - 30
5,181 4,710 - 362

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group

and the Company for their office premises and staff quarters. leases

are negotiated for an average ferm of one to five years with fixed

monthly rentals.

REHEFREARERARAILE
MRAEMEREIEEEMNZHES -
BHFERP—Z0F BAXNE
EHE -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

29. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

(a)

On 20th January, 2004, the Company's subsidiary, TLL filed
a statement of claim with the High Court of Hong Kong against
Prewell for recovery of arrears in fee from distribution of Linux
based software products in the aggregate sum of
HK$50,700,000 (equivalent of USD6,500,000) together
with damages. On 25th May, 2004, Prewell filed a statement
of defence and a counterclaim against TLL for the sum of
HK$15,600,000 (equivalent of USD2,000,000] being
repayment of the disfribution fee previously paid by Prewell
to the Group together with damages by claiming that there

were defects in the products supplied by TLL.

The Company made an application for a summary judgement
with the High Court of Hong Kong on 22nd March, 2005
[i.e. for a quick judgement without going through the lengthy
process of a full frial in court). At the hearing of the summary
judgement application held on 18th April, 2005, the High
Court of Hong Kong granted a summary judgement in favour
of TLL and ordered Prewell to pay TLL the arrears of fees
claimed by TLL in the sum of USD6,500,000 plus damages
and related interest and costs. Based on the Company’s Hong
Kong legal adviser, there is no indication that Prewell will

proceed with its counterclaim.

- FFAF=A=1— AR

29. AR TRZFR

(a)

R-ZFZNE—HA_1+H &R
AMEA RN ZRREEEE
EB R R R RRAME - FPrewell
EBEDHE Linux MU Em#R 2
RIE (EEME) @ fZE
50,700,000 & (FBFER
6,500,000%7T) - R=ZZEMWM
FRA=-TEH  Prewell I3
BRERRBR - 1EHENR R
PRt 2 Em ARG - BN R
FREAR 15,600,000 (48
1 2,000,000%7T) © tEAR
& Prewell LRI TAKEZ 5
HE (GERRE) -

PN Nt o i Sl kgl
HREE&RE Lk RRETES
#R (AR EEFLBIIRS
EEAIZFF MARRIERHIR) o
RZZTZERFMA+N\BRITS
KEHHRZIA L BESE
SRR BB R 2 B 5 2
R KT Prewell A1 BNE Z 42
&gk 6,500,000 FEITZ #R
B SRR EEEENER
B - REARREEEEEMN
2B R Prewell WEG RS
BHREBRRFA
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29. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

A former employee of Beijing Thizlinux Software Co, Limited
("BTS"), a subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, (the "ex-
employee”) was dismissed on 10th February, 2004. On 26th
March, 2004, the exemployee instituted legal proceedings
in the PRC court against BTS by claiming arrears in salaries
of RMB420,000, interesf, economic compensation and
damages which in aggregate amounted to approximately

RMB2,154,000. BTS strongly disputed the claim.

On 27th April, 2004, BTS filed a counter-claim against this
ex-employee in the PRC court for the recovery of a loan of

approximately RMB239,000 advanced fo him.

On 29th September, 2004, the above claims were withdrawn
by the exemployee. However, the exemployee subsequently
re-instituted legal proceedings against BTS by claiming arrears
in salaries and interest of HK$335,000 (or RMB355,000)
and HK$88,000 (or RMB93,000) respectively.

= FFAF= A=+ AR

29. ARTRZHR (&)

(b) 72 R]H EIPH 8 2 B4L X BN A

EfigtBR AR ([1ERE
) 2—%AEE ([ZAE
B R-ZTWF_A+H®
fRlE - R-TTMF=A_+X
B - %AiE B[ BAB iR i 3F
AR EAE AR - FiER AN &
A AER# 420,000 T2 RE -
NS REMERREES ]
AR 2,154,000 7t © JL Al

e BRI RRUFH -

R-ZENFEMA=—++8 it
REDES F1eh AR R R AR -
mZAEE BN THZERX
4 AR 239,000 7T

R-ZZNFARA-TNB &%
AIEEME AR - AT » %
AlfE B R BB H AR SIL
A& - 3 RIERT 335,000 78
7T (AR 355,0007T) 2R
% 88,000 T (HLARK
93,000 7T) ZFE -

)
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29. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 7th March, 2005, a hearing was held in the PRC court
in the absence of representative of BTS in relation to the
second claim for arrears in salaries. The PRC court granted a
judgement in favour of the exemployee and ordered BTS to
pay him HK$335,000 (or RMB355,000) and related interest
of HK$88,000 (or RMB93,000).

BTS has taken legal advice and is now in the process of

appeal fo the court of appeal in the PRC.

No provision has been made in these financial statements in
respect of any contingent liabilities arising from this claim

due fo ifs immateriality.

On the other hand, the ex-employee commenced separate
legal proceedings in the PRC against the Company by
claiming a remuneration of HK$2.8 million (or RMB3 million)

resulfing from the sourcing service performed fo the Company.

HE-—FTRF=A=+—HILFE

29. ARTRZHE (&)
(b) (&)

RZZZRE=AtH #E=
KB R < BREILRENE 2
RERBRE TRREER BT IR
BeA o R BUABE HIR % A 1R B IS
#FooER TS RBEIE XA
335,000/ 7T (K AR K355,000
7T) R AERAF 288,000 7T (3
AR¥93,0007T) FAlE

o

]

\

IERENEEREUARE R W IER
s B EROARE B5F

RRIIRER RS RBE A - #]
WERBRRELZ EARAEE
KA EIMKRIE LB -

AN - ZAIEBE S1THET B
ARBE - pLEARBETS
BR%sI 2 zM% 2,800,000
B (AR 3,000,000 7T)
REER-
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29. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The exemployee claimed that based on a letter of commitment
dated 24th December, 2001, the Company was alleged to
be liable to his remuneration of HK$2.8 million (or RMB3
million) upon the successful execution of a confract, sourced
by the ex-employee, between Beijing Normal University
("BNU") and the Company. On 28th March, 2002, a joint
venture agreement was entered into by the Company,
Eaglemax International Investment Limited (“ElIL”) and BNU.
On 3rd June, 2002, the same three parties entered info a
supplemental agreement. Accordingly, the ex-employee
claimed for the sourcing service charge of RMB3 million

together with interest of RMB277,000.

BE—F

FRF=A=+—HIFE

29. ARTRZHR (&)

(b) (#&)

ZAIEE B - RER_TT—
FTZRAZtTOBET A

& ARAIIEREEEZAIE
BRI RETEARE ([ILRD
K1) BARRZA&RKINEL
& - MEX 2,800,000 # T
(sk AR¥ 3,000,000 7T) FH
2 RZZBET_F=A=+N
H X2
International Investment Limited
(TEILD) BEILRDVARIZ & &R
e - R-ET_FRA=H"

Z=BEIRTRI M AT - '
It ZAMESREBR - BATA
R#¥ 3,000,000 7.2 5| & AR %%
BERMNEAR®E 277,000

Al Eaglemax

Annual Report 2004 /05 &%

171




Thiz Technology Group Limited BIERIFFEEBR AT

112

Notes to Financial Statements

A RS HR AR

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

29. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 16th December, 2004, the PRC court granted a
judgement in favour of the ex-employee and ordered the
Company to pay him RMB3 million. The Company has

appealed against the judgement.

As advised by the Company's PRC legal adviser, the claims
by the exemployee cannot be established pursuant to the
relevant PRC Laws. The PRC legal adviser also opined that
the PRC court decisions may not be enforceable in Hong
Kong unless it can be proved fo the satisfaction of the Hong
Kong Court that the decisions of the PRC court are final and

conclusive.

Moreover, the Company’s Hong Kong legal adviser opined
that the PRC court judgements are in principle enforceable in
Hong Kong under the common law mechanism. However,
the enforcement in practice has proved problematic mainly
because of the common law requirement that the judgements

are final and conclusive.

- FFAF=A=1— AR

29. ARTRZHE (&)
(b) (&)

RZZETNFE+=A+/<B ' F
BUEBT FIZ AR BRI T 27K
RAEEEXMNARE
3,000,000 T ° N ARIEHH
BIERT 2 FIRIRE E5F o

ARRNFPEEZEERS R
IEARRATR BARE - %ATER ZH
RIBERKSL © 2 BUAREER IR
R PEUAB ORE R REEIR
EEBRT © BRIEEMER AR
REREERE - ERTBARA
1ERTE Thi iR R T BEHER ©

IS -

RRBNFBEEZERER
B REBEEBRES - PEDER
HPRIR A LRI AR BRBITAT -
R BRBERLSATERAIR
ERERE  FTEANE
KERBARBERRE R A
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29.

30.

31.

OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS (confinued)
[c)  Following the failure of purchase of TRC by TLL, the IRD issued

writ of summons against TLL in the District Court of Hong
Kong on 10th March, 2005 for the profits tax and surcharge
payable of HK$6,172,000 and HK$308,000 respectively.
Defails of the fax dispute are sef out in note 8(a) fo the financial

statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At 31st March, 2005, the Group had capital commitments of

HK$ 1,950,000 (or USD 250,000), which are authorised but not

contracted for, in relation to capital injection into a subsidiary in

the PRC (2004: Nil).

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in notes 20 and 21 to the
financial statements, the Group had no other material transactions

with ifs related parties during the year.

The directors are of the opinion that these transactions, which also
constitute connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules were
carried out in the normal course of business of the Group and

conducted on terms better than normal commercial terms.

BE_TTAF=A=1—HILFE
29. ARTHRHZIFER (&)

30.

31.

(c] MBS RFREBERRSFR
BBRER _TZThF=AtHE
BE BT AR A B R AT E
B LM - o5 B
6,172,000 BT Z EAMBH
KBt hn#E 308,000 AT o B

e d A N R
8(a)
BERiE

R-ZFZFRAF=A=1+—H  ~5H
1,950,000 7T (8£250,0003%7T)
ZEHEBRFTOZ EARNALE - HE
RE—RKFPBEMNBLARZEE (ZF
TOF - &) o

AREALRS

PREATSIRFKMISE 20 2 21 FTR BB 2 X
4N REBRERNREBREA
WEEMBBARARS

EERR  RZEXZIERAIZERE
MRAT2EERS  WITRAEE
—REBBIEPETRIRER—RE

ESES AT RV
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32. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
On 7th April, 2005, the Company and the independent subscribers

entered info a subscripfion agreement for the subscription of an
aggregate of 400,000,000 Preference Shares af the issue price
of HK$0.013 each. The rights, privileges and restrictions of the

Preference Shares are set out in note 22(b) to the financial statements.

At the balance sheet date, part of the subscription moneies of
HK$4,200,000 was received by the Company and classified as
non-current liability (note 25). The Preference Shares were

subsequently issued and allotted on 26th May, 2005.

- FFAF=A=1— AR

32. REA&ER

RZZZRFHALE - AAREFL
RIBARI LR EE D - AFA0.013
BT #17EREA 3£ 400,000,000
PRAZSERY » BRI ZAER - FHE BB
NS IR ML 22(b) ©

REEB - ARRIEWEIE N BB
784,200,000 8 T # 2 SIEIER B
BfE (HaE25) - BARKREERENR
ZTRFAA _HRAETRRE -




Financial Summary

R

RESULTS

Turnover

(Loss)/profit from operations

Finance costs

Share of profit/(loss) of a

{oinﬂy controlled entity

(Loss)/profit before tax

Tax

(Loss)/profit affer tax

Minority inferests

(Loss)/profit atiributable

to shareholders

EXE

g2 (B8) /af

BERA

FEE — R AR
R (1))

BBE (B18) 8H
BiE

BB (BR) 8
DRI R

KRR (BR) /

e

E 3

Year ended 31st March,
BE-A=+—HLEE

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
ZEBRE _—_TIWE _—TT=F —TT-F _—TTF
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET

18,333 37,415 64,152 30,392 4,315
(16,327) (13,253) 7,056 1,181 (6,059)

(326) (100) (20) (122)

- - Q9 (625) (160)
(16,653) (13,353) 7,135 434 (6,219)
(6,172) - - (6] (6)
(22,825) (13,353) 7,135 428 (6,225)
230 - - - -
(22,595) (13,353) /7,135 428 (6,225)
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B HE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBDEE

CURRENT ASSETS MEBEE

DEDUCT: i

CURRENT LIABILITIES mBEE

NET CURRENT ASSETS/ nEHBE,/
(LIABILITIES) (BfE) #E

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #2& ER

UABILITIES REAE
NON-CURRENT UABIUTIES ~ JErEN&E
MINORITY INTERESTS DY RS

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

RERRAR

As at 31st March,

BE/ (Bf) %E

R=B=+—H
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
ZEBhE _—TEZNE _—TT=F —TTF —“TT-F
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
16,108 7475 4,236 4,810 364
43,756 40,997 36,145 23,565 1,898
30,440 9.043 5,906 3,037 13,454
13,316 31,954 30,239 20,528 (11,556)
29,424 39,429 34,475 25,338 (11,192)
(14,200)  (14,000) (4,000) - -
(147) - - - -
15,077 25,429 30,475 25,338 (11,192)
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